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PROLOGUE

			May 24, 2007 

			I woke up at 2:30 am. I wouldn’t really say I woke up since I haven’t really slept the past week anyway, too much going through my mind. What will it be like? Will it hurt? Is there suffering? What happens when it’s all over? Will I get sick or cry just before they do it? Less than eight hours from now I will be locked in the death house at Southern Correctional Institute, in Lucasville, Ohio, one of the toughest prisons in the state and the only one to perform executions. What should I do to prepare? Why worry? I just need to do whatever the prison staff and guards tell me to do. I have no choice in this matter. All I really need to do is to prepare myself mentally for this date with death. 

			I shower and shave. I try to look my best for whomever shows up to the spectacle. I skipped my breakfast because I’m too afraid I will not be able to keep it down. Plus, who could have an appetite when only hours from now, death’s doorbell will be ringing? I hate the thought of being paraded around in front of all of these people from the media. Wondering what they are going to write about me when this is all over with. Knowing they never report the actual facts. 

			The prison staff and guards are much nicer to me than they normally are. It must be because of what’s about to happen. I’m not sure if they feel sorry for me or if they just enjoy looking at the blank, uncertain stare in my eyes. The guards walked me through the process. I know they are talking directly to me but I can’t really register what they are saying. Everything seems like a blur. All of the talking going on around me seems to run together. It’s hot in here;  80°F outside of the prison walls makes it feel like 100°F in here. The rest of the prison is on lock-down, or what the administration calls Restrictive Movement. The inmates are restless and as I am led to the death chamber, I can hear them yelling and screaming. I don’t know what they are saying but I do know that some of them are yelling at me. 

			I glance over and I can see the hearse sitting outside of the death house. This can’t be real! It looks as though the hearse is from an old western movie set. The driver looks like he is from the movie Deliverance! I’m walked right in front of the media, to the death house. I can feel their stares. They glance at me and whisper to each other as they write their notes about me on their cheap office issued notepads. 

			The time has flown by. I’m sweating now. It seems like it was less than a minute ago that I was getting up at 2:30 am. It’s now 9:50 am. In just 10 minutes the first needle will be inserted to start this legal homicide that people have gathered around to see. I know I’m breathing because I can feel my heartbeat. I try to look calm and composed. I don’t want these people to think for one minute that I am nervous or afraid of what is about to take place. Why should I care about what the so-called journalists think about me anyways? I’m never going to see them again. They’ve already asked me if I wanted to give them a statement and I refused. This all seems so surreal. In just a few short minutes a human life will be taken while people watch like it is some sort of freak show. How can this be in our civilized society today in the most industrialized nation on Earth?

			The warden asks for a final statement before the process begins. With a single motion of buttoning his suit jacket, the warden just invited death in. Death is hovering in the death chamber and so many things are going through my mind. It is so quiet, I can hear my heart in my throat and I wonder if anyone else can hear it. There is no turning back now as the first of three drugs travel through tubes and into veins. I wonder what everyone else is thinking right now. Most of all, I wonder what the condemned man strapped to the deathbed by six straps is thinking. You see, I am just a witness to the execution. I am just one of a group sitting a couple of feet away watching this life being taken. He is experiencing it! What does it feel like? Does it hurt? What happens when it’s all over?

			



		

CHAPTER 1
HOW IT ALL BEGAN

			People ask me all the time, “Bill, how on earth did you ever decide to study death row and why?” Well, the simple answer would be that it needed to be done, but of course just like in life, there are no such things as simple answers. With that said, I will try not to bore you with my answer, even though I believe it is extremely important to explain how this journey began.

			I had always wanted to become a college professor. While I was an adult probation officer in Ohio, I decided to go for my graduate degree, and then on to get my doctorate. It has always been said that you needed those little letters before and after your name to teach college full time. However, based on my years of experience now, I can say with complete certainty that nothing could be farther from the truth. It is really based on who you know, not what you have accomplished. 

			During some of my graduate and postgraduate courses I realized that many of my professors were  what I call book smart, and were really only teaching from those books.  They studied books, wrote papers on those subjects, and then considered themselves experts in the field. One professor had written a book, required for  class, about  drug usage and the ethics of drug legalization.  He sounded very knowledgeable in the subject; however when we discussed types of drugs and their effect on society, I was taken back at the fact that this professor had never even seen crack cocaine firsthand, or heroin. He had never visited places like Amsterdam where the drug laws are extremely relaxed. Everything he was teaching us, he had learned from other books. He expected  us  to write an educated opinion on a subject based on his expertise which had come only from other books,  and no real life experiences. Right then  I decided that I would never become that type of professor.

			Now I know that you can’t be an expert on everything, and I also know that you don’t have to experience everything in order to teach about it. I’ve never experimented with drugs,  yet I have counseled hundreds of addicts over the years. Still, while my expertise in some  areas of the social sciences falls just short of personal experience,  I have gone to great lengths to ensure that I have as much knowledge as possible in those areas before I  teach them. I’ve never given birth and have not experienced the pain. Yet I was there throughout my wife’s pregnancy and the birth of our son and I can explain the process firsthand, which I do every semester in my human growth and development courses.

			Good students will often challenge their professors on particular subjects to discover what their stance is. In my fields of study, there are four subjects which consistently cause debate and heated arguments. They are: abortion, gun rights, the legalization of drugs, and capital punishment. I have been to abortion clinics and witnessed firsthand what the women go through psychologically before and after they make such a life altering decision. I also come from a family where before you leave the hospital after you are born, family members are deciding what gun to get you for your first Christmas. I’ve traveled to other countries including Amsterdam, to see how those societies deal with relaxed or legalized drug policies. And while I do not in any way consider myself an expert in these fields, I do believe that when I teach them, or when I am asked about them, I can offer an educated opinion, that goes above and beyond what I have read in a book or what I have been told by someone else.

			Whenever the topic of capital punishment or death row came up, I felt frustrated. I couldn’t speak for or against the death penalty because everything I knew about it came from either newspapers, books by other, non-criminal people, or worse yet, television! This is when I decided to go see what an execution was like in person. How difficult could that be to set up, right? I never expected that it would take 8 years to be able to tell what I had discovered.

			With the help of one of my closest friends, Roger Binette, who happened to be an Assistant County Prosecutor at the time, and is now a Common Pleas Court judge in Erie County, Ohio, I set out on this escapade to see what I could learn. Roger was able to get me some contact numbers for the Attorney General’s office and so I called them. I spoke with an assistants and asked her if she could put me on a list to witness an execution. She laughed and then somehow our phone call got disconnected. I like to think it was due to a bad phone connection, but realistically I think she hung up on me. I decided to give it one more try, and I called her back. I explained to her who I was and why I needed to witness an execution as part of my research on death row. I think she felt sorry for me because she explained that there are 80 million residents in the state of Ohio and only three people on each side ever get to witness an execution. In fact, she told me the Attorney General herself had never even witnessed an execution before. 

			The Ohio Revised Code, the states law book that defines every legal aspect of criminal and civil procedures in Ohio, has very strict guidelines as to who is permitted to view an execution.,   Unless I  fit into any of the outlined criteria, and received permission from an inmate, it would be nearly impossible. She then told me that since I seemed so polite and interested and since no one had ever called her before and requested such a thing, she was going to send me the Ohio Revised Code statue along with the list of defendants who were actually scheduled to be executed in the coming  year and that I could try and see what I can do. I took the state statue and brought it to Roger.  We decided that the best route to take was to contact the defendants themselves and see if they were willing to speak to me and perhaps ask me to be one of their witnesses since they are allowed to choose their witnesses. . Usually the  three witnesses consist of one clergy and two attorneys. 

			Working as a prosecutor for a number of years, Roger knew quite a few of the attorneys who defended death penalty cases so he was willing to make some phone calls for me. I  also happened to have one more ace in my hand,  It seemed that one of the defendants on the execution list  that year was  related to Roger by marriage. His name was Christopher Newton and Roger knew him quite well. 

			After writing dozens of letters to various inmates on each of Ohio’s two death rows at the time and making countless phone calls to different attorneys, I was  invited to speak with inmates face-to-face and was now on my way to learning everything I could about death row and the execution process.

			



		

CHAPTER 2
OHIO’S DEATH ROW

			Currently, as of 2015, Ohio’s death row houses 140 inmates which reside at the Chillicothe Correctional Institution located in Chillicothe, Ohio (Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and Corrections, April 2015).There is also one female on Ohio’s death row and she is housed at Marysville Correctional Institution for women. When I first started this project, Ohio had a death row in Mansfield, Ohio, and one in Youngstown, Ohio. In 1995, just before I started looking into the subject, death row was only located in Lucasville, Ohio, at the Southern Ohio Correctional Facility. After some rioting took place at that prison in 1993, Ohio’s Department of Corrections decided to move death row to Mansfield while keeping the death chamber at Lucasville (Columbus Dispatch, Alan Johnson, 3 Oct. 2011). The state of Ohio then decided to construct a super max institution in Youngstown, Ohio that would house the worst of the worst offenders as well as death row inmates. However, not everyone was transferred from Mansfield’s death row to Youngstown. If an inmate required special medical care or mental health care, they would stay in Mansfield; all others would go to Youngstown. Some of my inmates decided to stay at Mansfield because they would still be able to smoke and would be permitted to have other privileges, like contact visits and more recreational time.  Apparently it didn’t really matter who was one of the worst killers after all. 

			Approximately  (2011), the Ohio Department of Corrections decided to privatize the super max prison in Youngstown. The state turned it over to a for-profit agency to run,   They closed down death row there, as well as the death row in Mansfield. For whatever reason, the state decided to move all of the death row inmates to one of the oldest prisons in the state of Ohio located in Chillicothe while still housing the death house in Lucasville. The day before an execution takes place, the condemned inmate is transferred under strong security by van all the way to Lucasville to be housed until he is executed. It is approximately 50 miles from Chillicothe Correctional Institution to the Southern Correctional Institution in Lucasville.  If you are thinking that all of this appears to be unorganized, confusing, and expensive, you are right. It is.

			When you see death row inmates on television   in Huntsville, Texas and San Quentin, California, you will see condemned inmates locked down 23 hours a day with one hour of exercise a day inside of what looks to be a large dog kennel. The inmates are restricted on everything from movement to when they can shower. They are also extremely limited on every aspect of outside life and amenities. Most death row inmates are allowed visitation only during certain times a month; and the majority of those visitations take place through glass windows. There is no contact between them and another person. Their cells are small, usually filthy, and it is very loud. They rarely ever come into contact with another human being unless they are shackled with chains and handcuffed. They live out their days on death row just like this until the day arrives for them to be executed. They are, for all intents and purposes,  caged and warehoused like animals waiting to be killed. The general public knows, understands, and accepts this. In fact, even under the most extreme and grueling conditions, most people feel no sympathy towards those inmates whatsoever.

			There is a very good reason why you won’t see Ohio’s death row featured on any television show or documentary. This death row is unlike any I have ever seen, and I have seen plenty.. 

			The state of Ohio does not run its death row in any way like those other death rows are run. In fact, I believe that once people discover for themselves how the condemned inmates are treated on this death row, the general public might just become outraged

			They say that there are two sides to every story and somewhere in between lies the truth. In order to show how death row really is, without bias from other,  I decided to deal directly with the inmates on death row myself instead of going through guards, attorneys, or families.  

			No system is perfect and flaws will exist in every part of an institution; however, when a visitor  such as myself can walk into three different death rows on countless occasions and never be asked to keep my handcuff key locked up somewhere, there is a major problem. 

			A handcuff key inside a prison is  like gold to civilian on the outside. These keys are universal and fit all handcuffs. I never once tried to sneak this past the guards. It has always been on my key ring with my other, normal keys. In fact, there was only one time, when I was visiting an inmate on Mansfield’s death row that I thought I was going to get reprimanded for having it. As I was signing in and emptying my pockets, the guard picked up my keys, looked directly at me and said “I should have you locked up right now.” 

			It was probably my 10th visit to the prison and I expected to be turned away. I figured it would be a good  entry in my notes: number of visits before handcuff key is discovered on my keyring.  Instead, the guard said, “Having a Steeler’s key in the middle of Brown’s country,” and tossed them right back to me. 

			I simply said, “Well, everyone has their faults; maybe one day you will come around.” Then I  walked right on in and off to death row I went. 

			Mansfield, Youngstown, and Lucasville prisons have all let me go in with my keys, each time. Chillicothe was the only death row where they made me lock up my keys and other personal property. I have had my keys on me during every execution that I have witnessed. I never let an inmate know I had this on me and I would hate to imagine what they would do in order to get it from me. 

			Most of my visits at Mansfield and Chillicothe were  one-on-one with no direct supervision and no  handcuffs on the inmate.  Sometimes we would be able to  walk up and down that area of death row with no one close to us at all. These inmates have absolutely nothing to lose. They are going to die. I’ve heard more than one of my inmates say to me, “If I could just kill one more person, they wouldn’t  be able to execute me right away since they’d have to try me in court again.” That’s an eerie thing for someone to say to you when you look around and you are the only other person in sight. 

			When you are dealing with criminals  who have only weeks or days to live, all bets are off. There is no one who can predict what behavior they might exhibit. They sometimes become so desperate that nothing is beyond them if it will  extend their life a little longer. Most of them have extended their time on death row for  many years as they successfully won their appeals.  Their  phantom dates with death were meaningless. However,  when they get down to the last three or four weeks of their life,  they are irrational and desperate.  They start thinking that maybe they could save their life by taking mine, at least for another year or two. 

			I will never forget one specific day that I spent on death row in Mansfield with an inmate by the name of Chris Newton. Chris was always interesting to visit and interview because he welcomed his execution like no one I had ever met before. He could not wait to be executed. He killed his cellmate years before in order to be put on death row. He hated society and hated prison. Just like most of my inmates though, he could kill anyone at any time except for himself. 

			Inmates on death row do not like the idea of suicide. It is their strange belief that God will forgive them of all of their sins except killing themselves and since they all want to go to heaven, they can’t commit suicide. So after Newton beat his cellmate the death, he smeared the blood all over himself, drank some of it,  masturbated on the body,  then sat down and ate a pear while he waited for the guards. All of this happened in protective custody within the prison. He never denied any of this and stated he would keep killing until the state executed him. He got what he asked for, and that’s when I met him, on death row

			Newton and I sat  in a  room in Mansfield on death row so I could interview him in private. There were no windows or bars, just a table, cement walls, and a heavy steel door with no opening. We were discussing his up-and-coming execution that was only about five days away. After an hour or so  a case worker walked in on us. Every inmate I ever dealt with on Mansfield’s death row hated this particular case worker. All of them told me how he always acted better than anyone else and never treated any of them with respect. He had given me the run around a few times but I always dismissed it due to the job stress he faced every day dealing with these guys. 

			When this caseworker walked in and saw Newton laughing with chewing tobacco in his mouth, he looked straight at Newton and said, “Newton you know damn well I could write you up right now for that. You know you’re not allowed to have chew in here.”

			Chris stopped laughing and the look that came over his face was enough to frighten Satan. Chris looked right at the caseworker and said, “Yeah, well I’ve wanted to kill you since the day I got here. In fact the only reason I haven’t killed you is because if I did, then they would push my date back and I’m ready to die; but so help me, if you don’t get the fuck out of here right now, I’ll kill you in a heartbeat.”

			The caseworker’s eyes got wide and he looked directly at me and said, “He’s all yours. Call when you’re done.” He turned around and walked out, shut and locked the door behind him. 

			I sat there for a second and looked at Newton who said to me, “So what were we talking about?” 

			I said the only thing that came to mind, “You were talking about killing him, not me!” 

			He just laughed and said, “Oh him, he’s just a little prick that everyone hates. I like you.” 

			Then we went back to talking about his up-and-coming execution and he told me who else he would like to kill if he had the time before being executed. This was my first lesson in dealing with so many sociopaths on death row. Never get too complacent and never underestimate their willingness and ability to kill. 

			It was also the time I discovered that the norms and values of society do not exist on death row. They say that prison itself is a whole different society, while death row is an entirely different society within the prison. It’s been my experience over the years that for the inmates on death row, the only life that has any value on death row is their own. Everyone else’s life means nothing to them. Whether or not they felt this way before arriving on death row I do not know; but I do know that by the time they are ready to leave this is how they feel.

			Now that all of the condemned inmates are housed on one death row in Chillicothe, it is much easier to schedule my visits. The downside is that the drive is much further than it was when I drove to Mansfield but it’s about the same drive time as when I used to drive to Youngstown to see those inmates. While the inmates hate the age of the prison and how outdated it is for them, they all seem to love the freedom they get now while being on death row. There is no 23 hour a day lock-down, no isolation from others, and very little restrictions on visitations. Now they get to enjoy amenities that most inmates in general population don’t even get to enjoy!

			Imagine having your own color television with TV antennas, hand-held video games, mp3 players and access to download music, and typewriters. Imagine not having to share your cell with another inmate. The inmates on death row in Chillicothe have privacy and freedom to move about and visit other inmates. They have painting supplies that include canvases, oil paints, and brushes, and other craft materials to make wooden boxes or clocks. They have mail service and can receive not just letters from the outside world but up to three fully nude pictures a day! (Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and Corrections, 2014.)

			Most of the inmates I have dealt with on death row have  raped women and children at some point in their life, yet they are still allowed to receive up to three nude pictures a day in the mail, as long as none of the pictures contain any penetration.  It  seems ironic that rapists can receive nudity but nothing as graphic such as penetration.  This line in the sand that the Department of Correction has drawn  seems fruitless to me. Even more surprising than permission to  receive these nude pictures are the number  of women who are  willing to send them to these inmates. 

			These same inmates are also allowed to receive money from the outside through J Pay money orders. They can also email people on the outside, order shoes, clothes, and just about anything else through a specific site or have people order for them to be delivered to them in prison. There are literally hundreds of different food items that can be ordered and delivered to the inmates in a food box: soups, meat, candy, chips, anything. All of this and more can be ordered and shipped Ohio’s death row. Of course each time you order goods or send a money order to an inmate, the site (and I’m sure the state of Ohio as well) charges a fee. I guess that’s one way to profit off an inmate and justify it all at the same time.

			Just a couple of years ago there was an inmate scheduled to die on this death row by the name of Ron Post. On a last-minute stay, the Governor decided to commute his sentence to life without parole based on issues dealing with his representation at trial. Mr. Post, who weighed in excess of 400 pounds, was transported to general population and soon after died from a massive heart attack. The sad reality is that they could not find his veins in order to execute him and they were not sure how the drugs would work on such an obese person. In typical political fashion, the Governor stated reasons for his commuting of the sentence to life as having to do with his counsel and not the truth which was they didn’t know what to do with him. All along the real question should have been, why did the Department of Corrections allow him to become so obese to begin with? Well I guess when you, as an inmate, can order whatever food you want to go along with whatever else the prison serves you every day and you decide not to be active but instead sit around and play video games all day, then things like this are bound to happen.

			Other states such as California and Louisiana have come under fire in recent years due to the conditions of their death rows: locked-down for 23 hours a day, no proper ventilation, no recreational activities, poor food, and denial of adequate health and mental health care. According to the International Federation for Human Rights, conditions are so horrible that more death row inmates on San Quentin’s death row in California have committed suicide then have been executed in the past 30+ years (FIDH, 9 Oct. 2014). Members of the Center for Constitutional Rights have stated that such conditions “amount to cruel, inhumane, or degrading treatment or torture under international law” (FIDH, 9 Oct. 2014).

			In May 2014, Ohio’s death row population also filed complaints to the state capital. What were the complaints alleged by Ohio’s worst of the worst? Birds and bird droppings  in their cells and lack of hot water in their cells. Ohio’s 140 death row inmates  only requested  screens for their cell windows and more hot water to go with their private cells. There seems to be a lot of discrepancy between states when it comes to the treatment of those on death row. 

			While arguments can be made on both sides as to whether  inmates are treated too well in Ohio or too bad in other states, the fact remains that we are just warehousing these individuals until the final legal proceeding takes place which is their execution. It is my personal belief that offering any type of rehabilitation programs to inmates who are condemned to die makes no sense. They are not there to be rehabilitated like other offenders. They are there to await their pending execution.

			The conditions of the inmates’ cells, food, ventilation, and recreation time could all be considered subjective as determined by those in charge.  The blatant and obvious discrepancies between Ohio’s death row and other states’ death rows strikes me as very odd. One would think that in this country and in this day and age we would have some type of universal protocol for housing and executing inmates for the 32 states that utilize the death penalty If we have federal laws for all 50 states that mandate how we must care for our sick, our elderly, and our children, then shouldn’t every state be on the same page when it comes to the ultimate punishment of taking another person’s life? Unfortunately, just as no two executions are ever the same, no two states can agree on the proper protocol for death row or the method of execution to be used.

			



		

CHAPTER 3
THE DEATH PENALTY
IN THE UNITED STATES TODAY

			According to the Death Penalty Resources website (Death Penalty Resource Center, April 2015), there are approximately 3,002 inmates on death row in the United States as of April 2015. To date, we have 35 states in this country that can put people to death. The United States government as well as the United States military can also execute people in this country. New Mexico, Connecticut, and Maryland, have abolished the death penalty in their states but the laws enacted to abolish it were not made retroactive. This means that they still have inmates on death row awaiting execution; but no one else can be placed on death row in those states.

			There are various execution methods still utilized here in the United States.  

			Gas Chamber

			The gas chamber, which is only used in three states today, Arizona, Missouri, and Wyoming, has been used  11 times  since 1976. While an effective way to an end one’s life,  this method is still considered barbaric by most standards.  The actual cause of death in the gas chamber is Hypoxia which occurs when oxygen to the brain is cut off. Sodium cyanide crystals are combined with sulfuric acid in a bucket underneath the chair where the inmate is strapped down. The chemical reaction releases hydrogen cyanide gas which rises up.  He either inhales the noxious gases or holds his breath until he nearly passes out, forcing him to breathe in the poisonous gas. The inmate’s skin turns purple; his eyes usually pop out; he convulses and seizes during the entire time the poisonous gas is being inhaled. It is estimated that it takes approximately 20 minutes for the inmate to die. Even after the inmate is dead, the body must remain in the chamber for nearly an hour in order for the exhaust fans to remove the poisonous gases. The body must then be sprayed down with ammonia to neutralize the cyanide residue left on the body before the dead inmate can be removed. 

			Gallows

			Better known as hanging, gallows can still be used to execute  an individual in the states of Delaware, New Hampshire, and Washington. Three people have been put to death by this method since 1976. Unlike other methods of execution, this administration of death requires some calculation  in order to be properly done. The inmate’s exact height and weight must be taken to calculate  the distance of the drop required  when the trapdoor is released. The rope must be boiled for a certain length of time to allow for the knot to be placed correctly on the side of the person’s neck so that it will ensure proper breakage of the spinal cord once they are dropped. If done properly the inmate’s neck snaps creating almost instantaneous death as the lifeless body rotates and hangs there. However, this does not usually occur in most cases. If the proper measurements are not taken, if the rope is not sufficiently prepared, and if the gallows do not provide the  necessary drop length then one of two things will most certainly occur. Either the body will drop too far with such force that the entire head separates from the rest of the body resulting in decapitation, or most likely, the drop is not far enough for the weight of the inmate which results in the person hanging there completely alive but strangling to death.  During this slow death, the body’s natural defense mechanisms kick in and they struggle  to survive while slowly being choked to death.

			Firing Squad

			The firing squad is still used in two states: Oklahoma and Utah. Three people have met their fate this way since 1976 with the last one being in 1996 in Utah. Oklahoma only permits this method if both electrocution and lethal injection are ever ruled to be unconstitutional. Utah allows this method only if the inmate was placed on death row prior to lethal injection being made the primary method of execution and the inmate chooses to be executed in this manner. If the inmate refuses to choose then lethal injection will be the method (Death Penalty Information Center, April 2015).

			More recently, other states have decided to bring the matter of utilizing the firing squad up as their preferred method of execution instead of lethal injection due to the vast number of cases under legal review for Botched Executions. Many drug companies have refused to supply the lethal injection drugs to prisons. States are forced to constantly try different drugs to put their inmates to death. Often these drugs have never been tested for this purpose and no one really knows what the outcome will be. Opponents argue that this violates the eighth amendment regarding cruel and unusual punishment.

			For a firing squad execution, the inmate is strapped to a wooden chair surrounded by bags of sand or lead. A doctor pinpoints the exact location of the heart and places a target over it. A hood is placed over the inmate’s head. Approximately 20 feet away, behind a concealed cover, five marksmen await the word to fire their 30 caliber rifles directly at the target causing the heart to explode instantly. Four of the five marksmen have live rounds and one person has a blank bullet. No one knows who is shooting the blank unloaded bullet. If done properly death is almost instantaneous, which is why other states are considering switching to this method of execution.

			Electric Chair

			The State of New York built the first electric chair in 1888 and executed the first inmate in 1890. Soon after, most states abandoned hanging and went to electrocution as its means of executing their inmates. The electric chair was still the sole method of execution in the state of Nebraska until 2008 when it was ruled unconstitutional by the Supreme Court.	There are currently eight states that still use the electric chair, with Nebraska being the last state to switch over to the lethal injection method as its primary method in 2008. Tennessee has it written in their laws that they will  impose the electric chair on its inmates if lethal injection drugs cannot be obtained for a scheduled execution.

			The inmate that is to be put to death by electrocution must first have his head and leg shaved. Once they are strapped into the electric chair, a metal skullcap-shaped electrode is attached to the scalp on top of a sponge that has been soaked in a saline solution. Another electrode is attached to the inmate’s shaved leg using a conductive jelly. The inmate’s face is covered due to the simple fact that once the electricity is passed through a body it is not uncommon for the eyeballs to pop out of the skull. The inmate also often urinates, defecates, and vomits blood once the nearly 2,000 volts surge through their body for 30 second intervals which is repeated until they are pronounced dead. Since the body is hot enough to blister someone who touches it, the body must cool for a period of time before being removed from the chair. In most cases all internal organs appear to be cooked on the inside.

			Lethal Injection

			In 1976 when the United States Supreme Court re-instituted the death penalty, the main method that was used to carry out executions was electrocution. Now however, lethal injection has taken over as the predominant method to use in every state that has the death penalty. Since 1976, there have been approximately 1,214 people executed by lethal injection compared to only 158 who met their death through electrocution. I will explain the method of lethal injection in greater detail in a later chapter.

			



		

CHAPTER 4
THE INMATE

			People ask me all of the time about the inmates on death row. Are they scary? What do they look like? Are you ever afraid of them? While condemned inmates do come in all shapes, sizes, and colors, the best way that I can describe them would be Dangerously Normal! Some look like your next-door neighbor while others look like they could be college students. It’s very rare that an inmate will have killer tattooed on their forehead to let you know, with the exception of Stephen Hugueley from Tennessee’s death row. More about him later on though.

			Most of the time when I sit with these individuals I have to keep reminding myself who they really are. I have always been treated with the utmost respect from every inmate I have interviewed on death row. When they write me letters they tend to be very concerned for my well-being and always ask how my book is coming along. They have all appeared to me well groomed, clean shaven, and very polite. Most tend to get emotional at some point during our conversations whether it is about past relationships or missing family members. Each time I sat down with Anthony Sowell, for example, who is currently awaiting his execution for raping, murdering, dismembering, and hiding the bodies of 11 females in his home and around his property, he always broke down in tears when his mother was brought up in the conversation. 

			As a trained clinical psychologist I know how to respond to situations when people, faced with their past, exhibit emotional pain. But in fact, one doesn’t need to be a psychologist to offer words of comfort to those experiencing emotional pain and anguish. A simple, “I’m sorry for your pain,” or “Is there anything I can do to help?” is sufficient for the typical individual. It lets them know that you are there for them, and that, while you may not understand their pain, you are sympathetic to them.  However, when a person as evil as Anthony Sowell, sits down with you, eating and drinking freely, and begins to cry, you learn quickly that there is never a typical response to offer a condemned inmate.

			It was very difficult for me to maintain any sort of professionalism during my visits with Sowell who is so cold and calculated that he abducted 11 women from the streets of Cleveland, Ohio, and raped, murdered, dismembered and hid their bodies in his home, and then went about his daily routine as if nothing was ever wrong. During our visits he not only admitted all of his crimes to me, he never once showed remorse for any of his victims. He wanted me to find out why he became the monster he is today. Yet as soon as I would bring up his childhood and his mother, the tears would flow. It would take all I had to be able to sit across from him, watch him cry and not express what was really going through my mind. What was really going through my mind was, “how can this serial killer of 11 women be sitting across from me crying like a little bitch and expect me to feel sorry for him”. All he wanted to do was to justify his actions to me based on how he could never really impress his mother no matter how hard he tried.  I kept him talking in order for him to tell me everything he could, and reminded  myself from time to time that regardless of how I felt,  I was still in their house and I was still an outsider. He was still a serial killer who loved the attention and was still very capable of killing again.

			Anthony Sowell always had to  feel in complete control of each interview, but he  still treated me with respect. He would ask how my drive down was and wanted to make sure that I got enough to eat while I was visiting with him. The only reason why I stopped talking to Sowell was a disagreement we had over his artwork. He wanted me to purchase his artwork and to  pay him for his story. He actually wanted me to write a book specifically about him and he wanted to control everything from  what was going to be included in the book to o when I would get specific information from him. He also became very jealous whenever I talked to other inmates. He thought that there was no other person I needed to speak with since he was the most notorious serial killer in the state of Ohio. When he discovered that I  was no longer  interested in his story  and I wasn’t going to buy his artwork he became upset. He decided to give a painting to someone else even though according to him he painted it especially for me. He also said he didn’t want to talk to me anymore.
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			I find it  fascinating  from a psychological standpoint that I still receive letters from inmates that I have never met on death row who heard  that I am a stand-up guy. They tell me I shouldn’t pay any attention to Sowell and, things like, “We would like to talk to you,” and “Sowell is just greedy and wants the attention.” They will also tell me they are on my side. It feels  like I am dealing with  seventh graders competing to be my friend instead of inmates on death row. 

			Of course not all inmates are like Anthony Sowell. Some are very nondescript. Some have very little to say as they are just waiting until their time to  check out. Some are self-educated,  and some, like James Filiaggi, were college educated before prison. 

			Each death row inmate is unique in their own special way; and James Filiaggi was no exception.  He was very willing to do whatever he could to educate others about death row and keep others from ever ending up there. On death row for hunting down his ex-wife, chasing her into a neighbor’s house, finding her in a closet, and shooting her execution-style, he never once denied his crime or showed remorse for it either. 

			James turned his attention towards people on the outside and tried to show them his humanity. This seemed to work very well because following his execution there was a huge wake and funeral for him, attended by a couple of hundred people (Lorain Journal, April 2007). Do executed criminals get obituaries? For some reason he was able to pull at people’s emotional strings. To this day I still hear people talk about him in Lorain, Ohio. Nothing bad is ever really said about him. Even his attorney who went on to become a Common Pleas Court Judge in Ohio still has a picture of him and James in his chambers, with their arms around each other’s shoulders. This same judge also tried everything in his power to have the death penalty abolished in the state of Ohio following James’ execution.

			What I found particularly unsettling about James was his uncanny ability to impress so many people with his positive attitude, yet I could still see the hatred in his eyes and hear it in his voice when he spoke about society in general. He could turn on a dime emotionally. During our interviews he would go from being all right and very upbeat about his up-and-coming execution, then the next minute he would be filled with rage. During one of his rages, he told the Clemency Board to kiss his ass and that he was not going to beg anyone for his own life. He would agree that killing someone is wrong, but then he also believed that it was wrong to execute him. He always talked very emotionally about his two daughters and how much he loved and missed them. He said he would do anything to have them close to him again but he never said that he was sorry for killing their mother.

			One of the reasons that I liked interviewing James so much was because he asked me just as many questions as I asked him. He was very interested in learning more about the outside just as I was interested in learning more about the inside. When he found out that I had a son, he sent weekly packages to my PO Box addressed to my then seven-year-old son. They contained kid’s magazines, school type quizzes for math and reading, lots of comics, and usually chewing gum. He always told my son to stay in school and out of trouble and to keep learning. Of course I never allowed my son to have the gum or even to open anything that James sent; but I did give my son a lot of the educational materials and comics.

			In addition to my son, James  also sent my wife stuff, particularly  recipes. Whenever I  interviewed him he  asked me if my wife had tried out any of the recipes that he had sent. One day when James was in a joking mood I explained to him that my wife’s cooking was nothing to brag about. In fact her cooking and I usually never agreed with each other. I told him that her cooking was so awful that if he wanted to trade places with me he could eat her cooking and I would take the needle for him. He never sent another recipe.

			This is how I treated all of the guys I came into contact with on death row. I treated them just like I would anyone else. This is why I believe that so many of them liked me. They knew I would never lie to them, talk down to them, and I would never act like I was better than them. In return they gave me the utmost respect. James was just the type who would try to show that he was capable of having a heart. He made sure to send out dozens of Christmas cards every year and he kept a lot of people close to him all the way through to the end. 

			Now if you are thinking that sharing anything with my son from death row was completely wrong, I already know. I just never realized how wrong I was until after his execution. Following James’s execution I closed his case file just like I do with all of the others after they die. It wasn’t until about two or three weeks later that I realized I may have made a big mistake. My son came up to me one day and asked if I had gotten anything in the mail lately from Jimmy. I said, “Jimmy? Who’s Jimmy?”

			 That’s when he said, “You know, your friend on death row. I haven’t gotten a package in a while.” 

			Now you would think at this point I would have remembered I was dealing with a child and not an adult; however, I was clearly not thinking at all when I replied instantly, “Oh, James? You won’t be getting any more packages from him. He’s dead.” The look in his eyes and the sound of his voice told me right then that I had made a horrible decision. It was a mistake I would never make again.

			James Filiaggi was one of those rare inmates on death row who never seemed to become hardened like all the others and while he never showed any real remorse for his crimes he also never talked about hurting anyone else. The same cannot be said about any of the others I have dealt with over the years. In fact, most of my inmates seemed to metastasize hatred like cancer metastasizes, the longer they are kept alive. It just keeps growing and spreading until they eventually die. Stephen Huguely is the perfect example of one such inmate.

			Stephen Huguely, my only death row inmate who is awaiting his execution on Tennessee’s death row, looks like a killer, sounds like a killer, and still acts like a killer. He has no regrets, no remorse, and no one is safe around him. He once told me, “If I like you, you’re my best friend. If I don’t like you, I have to kill you.”

			Stephen has been featured on MSNBC’s Lock-Up. (06/13/07) He was originally given a life sentence for shooting his own mother 15 times and dumping her over a bridge before going out on a date. He told me that it was all due to the anger that had built up inside of him over the years because of his parents’ divorce. He stated that he told his mom one day that he was going to go stay with his dad in Michigan. That’s when she turned to him and told him matter-of-factly that his dad was dead; he had killed himself and she just never got around to telling him. He never forgave her for that, and one day he just snapped. 

			While talking to a girl on the phone one day his mother asked him if he was talking to “another one of those little whores.” He said to the girl on the other end, “I’m fixing to kill my mom. I’ll pick you up a little later.” That’s when he shot his mother 15 times with a rifle, put her in the trunk of his car, drove to a nearby bridge and threw her over, then proceeded to go on his date. Once in prison he decided that he wanted the state of Tennessee to execute him, but since he only received a life sentence for killing his mother he knew he would have to kill again. He said he would kill until eventually the state would give him the death penalty so he could die by what he considered “suicide by state.” He killed another inmate because of a debt owed to him and ended up getting another life sentence for that murder as well. He told me the reason he killed that inmate was because he talked down to him and never intended to pay his debt. He later killed his prison counselor which eventually got him the death sentence he had been asking for. Huguely admitted to stabbing his counselor nearly 60 times with a homemade shank. 

			He told me several times that he has no remorse for any of his murders. He also stated that if anyone ever says that they feel remorse for actually murdering someone then they are lying. Huguely never denied any of the killings and told me he never thought much about them afterwards. He did tell me once however, that the only reason they have him in prison for these three murders is because “They never got me for the others.” He claims to have killed others but would not go into detail with me on any of those. 

			Like most killers on death row though, Huguely loves the attention. In fact, he craves attention. While he may sound very ignorant when he is speaks, Stephen Huguely knows exactly what he wants while he is still alive. He is extremely organized and methodical when it comes to gaining the attention that he feels he deserves. He wanted his own Stephen Huguely website to attract people to him and his crimes. He wrote me letters to explain everything that he wanted included on the website. The letters were so thick and so many pages long, literally hundreds of pages at a time, that I had to get them bound. He expressed his anger in some of his letters because I didn’t writing him back fast enough. His writings included  rants, Bible verses, pictures of himself, lists of reporters he had spoken to, and more. He wrote what he called “teachings” to be posted, while at the same time tell me that he no longer accepted the Bible, Christ, or anything else to do with religion. He just wanted people to see how he used to be. He really wanted people to fear him and to never forget him, just like most killers do.

			Huguely loved to be in control. He wanted complete say in the interviews, on who should be allowed to talk to him, and what should be listed on the website. He even went so far as to send me a handwritten limited power of attorney (see next page) that allowed me total say on how I used what he sends me and giving me complete say in what media outlets could speak to him. He also listed the various media outlets and reporters that I could notify after I interviewed him to have them write about his life. (See complete list on next page.) He was careful about the pictures of him to be posted. He sent me photographs of himself as a baby, young boy, teenager, and finally as an inmate. The pictures show that he did not enter into prison looking like a deranged killer; however, there is no mistaking that is what Stephen Huguely is today, a cold, calculated, brutal, murderer, one who I believe would kill again if he had the chance. The last time I communicated with Stephen via letter, he informed me that the Department of Corrections would not allow him to have access to any visitors face to face. It had to be done over the phone or video. They could not trust him enough and they were afraid he would harm others. Since I was not able to keep up with Stephen’s controlling visitation and letter writing schedule,  we eventually stopped talking altogether. Knowing Stephen the way I do though, I’m sure if he ever gets to read this book he will be pleased that he was included in it. 
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				Some inmates that I have spoken to over the years seem to  only exist behind the walls of prison. Not all are like  Stephen Huguely or Anthony Sowell. Not everyone wants to be recognized as a mass murderer or serial killer. In fact, I had never actually heard of one particular inmate who wrote to me  out of nowhere one day, yet I can honestly say that he is the most evil human being I have ever sat down with in my entire life. His name is William Sapp.
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			William first contacted me by letter about a year or so ago. No ordinary letter, it was decorated on the back with a beautifully drawn, full-color Papa Smurf in perfect detail. Across the top of the envelope he wrote, “Have a Smurfic Day Bill.” I had no idea who William Sapp was but judging by his envelope I assumed that he was going to be a real character. His letter was very well written and almost overly polite. He stated that he had gotten my name from others on death row. He had planned to write me sooner but because I had just witnessed the execution of his a friend of his the month before, he thought it would have been in poor taste to approach me during that time. He also apologized for the way that Sowell went back on his word to me and told me to not ever worry about him going back on his word. Ever. 

			He explained to me that he did artwork and was willing to let me interview him as well as witness his execution if I was interested. All that he asked was for some type of compensation for the art supplies that he would be using if I decided that I did want some of his artwork. I decided to write him back and I told him that I may be interested in learning more from him and wanted him to tell me a little more about himself. In less than a week I received the second of many more letters to come. This envelope was also very nicely decorated with an eagle on it with the word “freedom” written under the claws of the eagle. Above the eagle was the phrase, “Who knows if life be not death, and death be not life?” This letter peaked my curiosity about Sapp. In this letter he explained that since I had a good reputation on death row and since I was interested in him, he would put me on his visitation list. He trusted that I would not burn him on anything since I told him in my last letter that I would not be giving him anything towards art supplies or anything else until I was given the artwork first. While reluctant to do so at first he finally agreed that he would do that.

			Nothing in prison is ever free. Nothing! So for inmates to send me their paintings, drawings, wooden crafts, personal pictures, and just about anything else that I ask for, without me sending them a single dime, says a great deal about how they perceive me. I have sent money for art supplies and even food boxes to a select group of inmates that I have dealt with over the years but I never send them anything upfront. I find it psychologically fascinating that hardened death row murderers who trust no one in their lives, trust that I will not burn them by taking their works of art, selling them on the outside and leaving them with nothing. They pay for the canvasses, paints, brushes, and shipping. They send me whatever they have and then patiently wait to hear what I have to say about their work.

			What I found intriguing about William Sapp was the fact that his letters were  so cordial and polite. Every letter began the same way and continues to this day, “Greetings and salutations, I hope this letter found you in the best of health and spirits.” While most of inmates begin their letters with something positive, Sapp always seemed to be genuine. He never really asked me to provide him with much of anything and he always apologizes in his letters if he uses foul language or feels that he may have offended me.  It is psychologically baffling that murders worry about offending me with their use of language yet never worry about the human lives they have taken  in such horrific ways.

			After receiving numerous letters from William in which he tells me about how evil he is and how he tried several times to set his biological mother on fire by the age of nine, he invited me down to see him if, in his own words, “ I can handle it.” He stated that he offered interviews to other people in the past, but they were so disgusted with his lust for raping and killing that they decided not to visit him. He felt that since I was very familiar with death row and that I had seen more than anyone else he thought I could be the one to hear his story. I decided to set up a visit with him. 

			Just before going to see William, I received another letter from him in which began to reveal his inner feelings.true side. It was decorated with a full-color drawing of Mickey Mouse. On the top of the envelope he wrote, “Your life becomes what you think.”  In the letter, he wrote that couldn’t wait to finally sit down with me and get this adventure going. He had  no regrets for any of the  killings and rapes that he committed over the years. He  awaits the chance to get off of death row and back into the world, “be it legally or illegally” because he says he is “far from being done.” He wrote  that he truly missed being able to kill, rape, and torture and,  “It’s in my blood, I was born to do this, I enjoy doing this, I love it, and I’m great at it.” He proceeded to explain that he loves sex and it doesn’t matter to him if it is with  man, woman, child, or animal. “If a girl is 10 years old or older, I’ll fuck her. Pussy is pussy and I’m not going to ID them.” He would not have a  girl  tell him no, and if  he needed to take her brutally, which almost always was the case, then so be it. He told me that he grew up thinking this way starting with his “real mother”. He was raped by his biological mother as well as his two stepsisters but insists that he really “got into it.” He even went so far as to have his stepmom’s name, Patricia, tattooed on his upper arm. He also said that while he had sex with his family he didn’t rape anyone until the age of 14 or 15 and that was his stepsister’s best friend.

			Aside from this letter being so graphic, William also asked me a lot of questions about myself. When I write my guys on death row and ask them questions, I also let them know that they can ask me anything as well. This builds up the trust that is so crucial in my opinion which allows them to open up their world to me. Some of his questions were: Are you staying busy teaching this semester? What is the difference between abnormal psychology, social psychology, and regular psychology? What is your favorite time of year? What is your favorite animal to hunt? He wrote that Halloween was his favorite holiday and, “My favorite thing to hunt is human beings.” After receiving this letter, how could I not sit down face-to-face with him and interview him in person?

			My first visit with William caught us both off guard a little. The first thing he said to me was, “I was expecting someone a lot older and more feeble.” He was not expecting someone my size which is 6’4” and about 250 pounds. My first thought was, “I wonder if he was expecting someone older and smaller so he could try to kill them?” 

			Usually when I visit inmates on death row the guards have really no interest. However, when I visited Sapp, they seemed to be very interested in what he might say to me, since no one really ever visits him and he is so strange. One guard asked me flat out if I was going to find out how many people he actually killed. I told him I had no idea what I was going to find out and I asked him why he wanted to know. He told me that law enforcement and federal officials suspected Sapp of committing 70 murders but they could never prove it. While that caught me off guard a little I politely told him that I would see what he had to say and I left it at that.

			When I visit the inmates, alone, they have no handcuffs on. I am also allowed to get up and freely move around and purchase items out of the vending machines for us both to eat and drink. There is a microwave next to the vending machines that can be used to cook any of the frozen food items purchased there. A lot of the guys usually go for the sweet stuff and Mountain Dew is usually their drink of choice. Some actually get excited for their interviews because of what they get to eat the entire time I’m talking with them. At the end of the cell block or pod sits an old desk where a guard sits. I guess he’s there to keep an eye on the inmate although he is so far down from us that if anything ever did happen I’m sure I would be dead before he got to us. This section of death row is used only for visitations, but the cells and the pod are set up just as if they still house inmates. At the opposite end of the block a large flat screen television is mounted with benches in front of it so people can sit and watch TV during their visit. The entire block always seems to be extremely clean and quiet. The only disruption that has ever occurred during my countless visits here are the occasional fly-bys of birds that get inside and just fly around.

			When Sapp and I sat down alone at a little round table fastened to the floor with attached seats, we made small talk at first. Right away I noticed that he has no emotional affect about him, no excitability or anything. Most death row inmates welcome some type of human interaction from the outside and show it  through gestures and  voice. Not Sapp. He was just matter-of-fact about everything. He was well groomed, soft-spoken, and very polite. He would not eat unless I ate with him and he would not drink anything unless I got myself something to drink as well. He was almost guarded with his responses to my questions about being on the inside  for the last 13 years. When I asked him what he missed the most he calmly replied, “Killing and Zero bars!” He went on to say that he really enjoyed killing people and raping them but that he also missed eating Zero candy bars. He  remembered enjoying them as a kid and that they  soothed him sometimes after doing “certain things.” He said he hadn’t had one of those candy bars since getting locked up. I knew I had seen  those exact candy bars in the vending machine on other visits so I went to check, and luckily  they in stock, so I bought two of them and laid them down in front of him at our table. That was the first sign of emotion that I saw from William. I could see him relax his facial muscles and he asked me in an excited voice, “Where did you find these at?” 

			I replied lightly, in a joking way, “That’s an awful dumb question coming from a guy like you. It’s not like I ran to the store to buy them for you.” 

			He laughed and shoved one of the candy bars down his pants. He said he would save that one for later. I asked him if he was worried that they might catch him with it when they take him back to his cell block after our visit to which he informed me that the guards never search them anymore, either before or after visits. 

			I decided that since he was much more relaxed now, I would ask him about his killings. I told him that the guards informed me that he was good for close to 70 murders and that I wanted to know if this was true or not. He looked me dead in the eyes and said, “No, that is not true at all. When a person kills another human being be it intentional or not, they never forget it. You are going to come across guys who say they killed this many or that many just to get the publicity but then all of a sudden they can’t remember how or where they supposedly did it. They are fucking liars then. You never forget a murder even if you try to. I’ve killed 50 people. I can prove 50 people not one single more so they don’t know what the hell they’re talking about when they say I did 70.” 

			He then went on to explain that he tried to save at least one thing from every one of his victims. Sometimes it was a ring, other times it was the entire finger. Sometimes it was a necklace, other times it was a nipple. He also described himself as a “cleaner.” When he disposed of a body he made sure to clean everything completely to prevent getting caught. He also tried to hide and bury them in locations that were difficult to get to near railroad tracks or close to any dumping grounds that would help mask the scent of the body as it decomposed. William went on to explain that he enjoyed having sex with the victims after he killed them. In fact, he told me he thought it was odd that more guys wouldn’t n’tadmit to having sex with the dead bodies after they killed their victims. 

			During the entire time he was explaining everything to me he continued to eat his food and drink his Mountain Dew as though this was normal behavior. He explained that he was not capable of loving anyone in life and that he regretted not killing his wife and kids when he could. He said he hadn’t seen them since being put on death row and has no desire to see them. I asked him what he would say to his kids, now adolescents, if he did see them. He thought for a second then simply stated, “I wouldn’t say anything. In fact if I could I would still kill them right now.” He then went back to eating.

			William and I talked a lot on that first visit and over the course of the last year or so. My goal was to get as many names and locations of victims from him as possible to hopefully provide some sort of closure to families who had lost a loved one. William was just happy to have found someone who could put up with him without judging him or displaying disgust towards him. He was willing to give up what he felt was the ultimate control over people by giving me  information, not out of remorse but  to make a “great story.” This goes to show that most serial killers, if not all, still want their 15 minutes of fame. Their worst fear isn’t being put to death; their worst fear is to be forgotten by society while they are still alive.

			Sadly though, the discovery of bodies, closure for many victims’ families, and the closing of  cold cases was not to be.  He provided me with three different detailed maps that outlined the exact locations of three different bodies, and a detailed description of one of the victims and what she was wearing when William buried her. However, no search has ever been made to find them. Why? That is a question that I keep asking myself over and over. I met with  agents from the Federal Bureau of Investigations to discuss the cases, and turned over  the maps and  descriptions. I got answers to the questions they instructed me to ask William Sapp. One FBI agent told me that due to egos and politics, no one was willing to move on the information.  They firmly believed that Sapp killed people in Ohio and Florida yet the local departments in the towns on the maps, do not want to stir up cases. To make matters worse, Sapp’s attorneys were somehow notified that he was talking to me and giving me information so now our communication has nearly been cut off. 

			Here is a guy sentenced to die in Ohio’s execution chamber who is willing to give me the locations of numerous bodies and to let me help ease the pain of so many families out there from Ohio to Florida but due to egos, attorneys, and politics this won’t happen. I’m sure the family members out there who have maybe wondered for years if they will ever know what happened to their daughter, sister, mother, or aunt will completely understand.

			In the last letter that I received from William he assured me that he was a man of his word and that before he was executed he would give me everything I wanted. He also informed me that  mail from me hasn’t always been delivered to him and the letters he has sent to me have not always made it out of the prison. I still  hope one day I will be able to locate the victims he says are out there and bring some  peace to the families who are left wondering. If that  happens then I can honestly say that every minute I spent dealing with this Satan in Disguise will have been worth it. Until then though, I will keep asking why. Why not just look and see if they are really there? What’s the worst that can happen? If nothing is found, then tell me and everyone else that you told me so and that I don’t know what I’m talking about. If the FBI is willing to bust through concrete and tear down buildings just to look for the body of Jimmy Hoffa, then why not dig in a few wooded areas in Ohio and Florida? Is it because the victims were prostitutes? Is it because if you do find something then your egos will be bruised? Maybe Sapp is leading me on a wild goose chase, spinning lies; but  just maybe he is telling the truth.

			There was only  one person Sapp admitted to actually liking in prison. That person was Christopher Newton. Sapp once told me that the only reason he and Chris got along so well was because no other people on the face of this earth were as  sick and twisted as they were.
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			Chris Newton was a sick individual. No one could argue with that. He was also very dangerous. He is the only person on death row that I have come into contact with who actually couldn’t wait to be executed. Sapp and Newton would trade stories back-and-forth about how they would love to get out and rape again. In fact, the day before Newton’s execution,  he was really hoping  to at least get under the shirt or inside the pants of his cousin who was there for his last visitation. He told me his plan was to bribe her since she really wanted to be there at his execution. He was going to tell her that if she would let him feel her breasts and play with her vagina real quick when the guards were not looking then he would let her watch him be executed. I can’t say what took place between them the night before his execution when his family got to see him for the last time but I do know that she was not present during his execution. It was only  me and his spiritual advisor when he was put to death.

			Newton’s execution, which took a little over two hours from start to finish, convinced me that there is no such thing as a botched execution. There is however poor planning, lack of training, and ignorant officials who only claim they know what they are doing. The only saving grace with Newton’s execution was the fact that he wanted to die! During his preparation, just before his execution he was joking with the execution team and smiling the entire time they were sticking needles in his arms, legs, and neck trying to find a suitable vein.  Ohio requires two separate ports of entry for the administration of the lethal injection. Since there are no medical doctors allowed to take part in the execution process, only prison staff and trained EMTs prepare the inmate. Sometimes it is very difficult to find the veins if the person is obese or has used a lot of intravenous drugs in the past. Knowing Chris Newton the way I did, he was neither obese nor an IV drug abuser. As I sat quietly observing the  individuals who were trying to find the veins on Chris, I couldn’t help but notice how a few of them were shaking themselves. Their hands were far from steady which told me that they too were having issues being put in this position of assisting in the killing of another human being.
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			Once they were able to locate a vein in one of the arms, they started  bag of saline solution to keep that vein from closing back up while locating the second vein. At that point,  I could really s see the worry on their faces. They tried to find veins by sticking him in the leg, then neck, and up and down the arm. It took so long in fact that the bag of saline solution ran dry,  Then came the moment that no one was expecting, Newton had to go to the bathroom! It seems that all of that saline that ran through his veins found its way to his bladder. I will never forget the shock and stunned disbelief on their faces when Newton turned his head to tell the execution team that he had to  take “a piss.” 

			At this point the entire execution process  seemed  completely surreal.  Watching  members of the execution team look at each other and shrug  as if to say “now what?” and then watching the condemned man getting up to be led to the bathroom so he can urinate, brings  all kinds of questions to mind! So many questions in fact that I turned to Newton’s state public defender who sat right next to me in the death house and I said to him, “Listen, I don’t think this is going as planned. Don’t you think you should be in there saying or doing something?” 

			He looked at me and said, “You think?” 

			Now I’m not a lawyer, I’m a psychologist, but I do have one year of law school under my belt. I would think, as an attorney, you would want to defend your client until the very end. Newton’s  attorney said, “Alright,” and got up and went to see about getting into the same room as his client. A minute or so later he came back and sat back down next to me. I asked him what they said and he replied, “They just told me to go back to my seat and that everything’s under control.” 

			Looking at him, reminded me of a young boy who was just told to go sit down by his teacher and to be quiet. It was during this execution that I seriously began to question the entire judicial system as well as the Ohio Department of Corrections.

			Newton finished using the restroom and lay back down on the table. They located another vein and he was finally led over to the deathbed where he was strapped down.  When it was time to hook up the lines coming from the execution room to Newton’s arms, one guard was shaking so much that another guard had to come over and help him by holding the line steady. Newton’s final statement was, “Boy I could sure go for a bowl of soup and a chicken bone.” 

			I have no idea what that meant. The warden then gave the signal to the executioner to start the drugs. As Newton laid there gasping for air with his chest convulsing and making all types of noises I began to wonder if what I was doing was worth it. I was led to believe that executing someone by lethal injection was similar to putting an animal down.  They just go to sleep. Chris Newton was by no means a nice guy and thinking about  his victims who must have suffered a horrible death; it was difficult to feel any sympathy for Newton. But he was still a human being and he  was being killed right in front of me. I was just a spectator to a completely legal murder.

			Not all death row inmates appear  completely sinister or evil.  Some can be very cheerful when I meet them.  One colorful inmate, Miss Frances Anne Spisak, was by far the most psychologically confused inmate I have ever dealt with over the years. Miss Frances Anne was really Frank Spisak. Frank shot five completely innocent people at Cleveland State University. Three of them were killed during his 1982 rampage. The two remaining survivors were there to witness his execution.  Spisak was sent to  death row for these deaths and  remained there for  28 years until his execution finally took place. 

			In my opinion what made Spisak psychologically distorted was due in part to the nature of his crimes. Frank Spisak was a self-proclaimed Nazi. Obsessed with Nazi Germany, he wanted to become the next Adolf Hitler. He even dressed the part including the Hitler style mustache and saying “Heil Hitler” throughout his trial. Spisak aspired to become the highest ranking member of the skinheads and believed that  targeting and killing black and/or Jewish people he would  move  up the ranks faster. His entire belief system was based on being a White Anglo Saxon Protestant (WASP). According to Spisak, anyone who wasn’t one should be eliminated from society.  This included gays, lesbians, transgendered individuals, and anyone else who did not subscribe to this belief.

			Fast forward to the years spent on death row. Frank discovered that he was really a man trapped in a woman’s body and wanted to become a female. So much so that he tried to get the state of Ohio to pay for his gender reassignment surgery before he was executed. Fortunately for the taxpayers of this state, that didn’t happen, but that didn’t stop Frank from taking on the persona of a female and changing his name to Francis Anne. This complete transformation is very complex because he went from Frank to Francis, and from hater to lover. Frank went from hating homosexuals to becoming one. He went from hating Blacks to having sex with them on death row. He went from shunning religion to having not one but two different spiritual advisors on the day of his execution, one of them an African-American minister. During the time I spent talking to Frank (he preferred to be called Francis) he was the most soft-spoken and courteous inmate. He even went so far as to thank me for taking time out of my busy schedule to come to his execution! Less than an hour from death yet, he seemed  more concerned about the four hour  drive that I had to make there and back.

			In every single letter  Frank wrote to me,  he was  open and polite. He  answered all of my questions and offered to provide any other information I wanted about his life on death row, even if I hadn’t asked.  The letters were always written in bright pink ink,  every letter “i” dotted with a little heart, and he signed them, “love Francis Anne.”

			He openly admitted to having sex with whomever he could on death row, and could always find a spot to do it. Most of the time it was with other inmates; but there were also guards who would have sex with him on occasion as well. This was confirmed by a few other inmates I interviewed who also admitted to doing more than just watching. In fact, Frank was so open about this behavior that in one of the letters he sent he actually asked if we could not mention his sex life anymore because the guards were “on to us” and had threatened to cut him off sexually which he did not want to happen. He said we could discuss anything else from that point on except sex. Other inmates told me that everyone knew that Frank was into guys, so whenever they felt an urge or a need they went to his cell and would have either oral sex or anal sex, whatever they were in the mood for, with Frank, no questions asked.

			I didn’t get to spend as much time with Frank as I did with most of my other inmates.  One day I received a letter from the prison with a woman’s name on the return address.  I actually thought  it was from a female death row inmate. I was both shocked and intrigued when I discovered  it was really a male inmate. When Frank first  contacted  me he was already close to the end. He never once asked me for anything, no food boxes, no money orders, nothing at all. He asked if I would like to witness his execution and I told him that I would. 

			I was the very last person to see him before they took him away to prep him. We talked about his daughter who had come  to see him the night before, for the first time since being placed on death row 28 years ago. She was now 32,  He was so happy that she came to visit and even took pictures together with her. He shared e those pictures of them together with me, as well as an old picture of himself that he wanted people to remember him by. 
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			He told me that he was no longer the monster that killed those people and that he regretted that part of his life. He freely admitted his guilt to me and said  he left that monster behind a long time ago. He wanted me to have his pictures to use in any way I saw fit. As we talked, s the final order that denied his final stay of execution was faxed over. The guards then tapped me on the shoulder and told me it was time. When I got up to leave Frank shook my hand and asked me if I thought he should die. I asked him what he meant by that and he said, “As a doctor in psychology and me being bipolar and all, do you think I should be executed today?” 

			I simply stated that as a psychologist I was not comfortable answering that question since I had never had the opportunity to formally diagnose him, and as for my personal opinion, I was not one to judge anyone else. He thanked me once again for my honesty and wished me well. Leaving the death cell to go over to the witnessing room, I felt that Frank was truly remorseful for the crimes that he had committed. Once again, I was wrong.

			When Frank entered  the death chamber to be strapped to the execution table he looked like a deer in headlights. Every inmate is given the opportunity to make a last statement before the sentence of death is carried out and Frank was no exception. As he was strapped to the table he asked the warden to  hold up the paper on which he had prepared his last statement, so he could read it. It only took a few words for me to realize that Frank Spisak was never remorseful about his crimes. As he lay there strapped to the execution table waiting to die with a cross around his neck, he read his last statement in German, rubbing salt in the wounds of those who survived his vicious attack and were sitting only a few feet away. I could hear the anger and disgust from them. One yelled, “Let me in there. I’ll kill him myself.” 

			The others were in shock, appalled that a Neo-Nazi mass murderer would be so bold as to read his last statement in German, not once showing any remorse or apologizing for his actions. When he was finished the warden buttoned his top button signaling to the executioner to begin. Frank looked over to me and waved at me. I never waved back.

			Fred Treesh was the last person that I witnessed being executed to date. As of February 1, 2015 the state of Ohio has placed a stay on all executions until 2017.

			Fred was the type of inmate you could never turn your back on.  He seemed almost too nice, too willing to talk, and too eager to get out of his own death sentence. However, I found it easier to interview Fred than the others simply because he made me  feel welcomed to death row; he always stood  up to greet me. He  never spoke negatively about other inmates, other than Anthony Sowell whom he did not like,  and he was always straightforward. I learned a lot from Fred during my time with him. He  introduced me to a few other inmates who he said I could trust and who would also take care of me with whatever I needed for my book.  
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			Fred explained to me how being on death row the past 18 years had changed him. He became more hateful to people on the outside and he certainly did not like the idea of the victim’s family pushing for him to be executed. He admitted to liking the control he had over them simply by appealing the case and making them re-live the events over and over. He blamed everything on his addiction to crack cocaine which he said drove him into the deepest realms of insanity where he would stop at nothing in order to get high. Fred admitted to me that for 16 out of the 18 years that he spent on death row he still smoked crack cocaine every chance he got. It was only the last two years that he quit for good and that was because he made a promise to his mother before she died that he would stop using. Ironically, it was Fred’s mother who helped feed his addiction over the years by smuggling in the money for him to buy it.
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			Fred was completely open with me and explained in great detail just how things worked on death row, especially when it came to getting things. His mother, who was his best friend, visited him often. Each visit she would place a $100 bill inside of a condom. She would then tie the condom up really tight and insert it into her vagina. This would allow her to go undetected through the screening process when she entered the institution. Once inside the prison and the visitation area she would ask to use the restroom and to be allowed to go to the vending machines. She would first go to the restroom and remove the condom from her vagina that still contained the money. She would then make her way over to the vending machines and purchase a bag of potato chips. She would open the bag of chips while standing at the vending machine and place the condom with the money still inside of it into the bag of chips. She would then go back to sit down and give her son the bag of chips to eat. As Fred would eat the chips he would also swallow the condom that contained the money she smuggled in. At the end of the day Fred would then pass the condom out of his body when he had to defecate. When he was finished going to the bathroom he would pull the condom out of his own feces tear open the condom and there he would have a clean $100 bill to buy crack cocaine. 

			Certain guards brought  drugs into the prison and everyone on death row knew who  they were. $100 would buy  $40 or $50 worth of drugs. Other guards brought in  other things  such as pornography,  but it all came at a high price. Inmates could get just about anything they wanted. All Fred wanted was crack. When his mom was dying, and he knew he could not see her again or be at her funeral, he decided to  change his ways of living out the remainder of his sentence on death row. However, while Fred may have changed his ways of living towards the end, he did not change his ways of thinking.
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			Just days before his execution the prison allowed Treesh to have three people visit with him one last time. It would be an eight hour visit and the prison would allow just Fred and his visitor  have the entire pod to themselves. Fred requested my, his father from Florida, and one another inmate by the name of James Goff whom he considered his brother. I was very hesitant to take part in this visitation at first because I decided when I began this research  not to  meet with any family members. However, I did want to observe what happens to a person in  their final days and their actions in response to it.  I also wanted to see how the prison staff treated them towards the end. 

			Before the event,  the prison staff  told me  they would allow Fred and his visitors to order any food we wanted from local restaurants,  and they would have it delivered to us. They told me to bring money and show up to the prison by 8:00 am. I showed up as usual, got my ID card and locker outside the reception area and locked up my keys, wallet, and cell phone. I kept $80 in cash on me since we were going to be ordering out and I had no idea what to expect. I had never heard of anyone being able to have food delivered to death row before, and it wasn’t as though this was Fred’s last meal. When I was escorted  to where Fred was being held, he sat there and appeared to be very agitated. There were no handcuffs on him, no shackles, and he was free to walk around as much as he wanted, yet he just sat there. I asked him what was wrong and he told me he was pissed at the warden for not allowing James Goff to be with him during this last visitation. He said the warden hadn’t told him about it until just before I got there and he felt that the warden was doing this to him just to be a prick. 

			This was the first time I had ever seen Fred so angry. He kept telling me that if the warden came in during the visit, “Don’t be surprised if I try and kill that black bastard!” 

			I was able to calm Fred down by telling him that “it is what it is” and they were just probably trying to get him to say or do something stupid so they could end his last visitation early. I also reminded him that since his father had just driven down from Florida to see his son for the very last time, he probably didn’t really want to ruin that. He agreed with me and we started talking about how he was holding up. Shortly after we began talking the guards escorted his father in. When his father walked over to us in sat down, it was the first time I ever felt sorrow on death row. The man in front of me was in his late 70s, and he had just driven nearly 20 hours to see his son for the very last time. They hadn’t seen each other for a number of years but they talked on the phone every week. 

			I remember thinking, “This man could be my father.” The look in his eyes and the sound of his voice echoed defeat. He looked tired, frail, and completely lost. Fred tried to be as upbeat as possible and talked a lot about the old times with his dad but I could tell that his dad had no idea what to say. He was trying to stay strong, even realizing that he would never see his son alive again. He blamed himself. Once, when Fred went to use the restroom, his father turned to me and said, “His mother and I did the best we could for our kids. I don’t understand how or why Fred turned out the way he did.” 

			I told him that some things are never meant to be understood and that people make bad decisions in life. I also told him not to blame himself for his son’s actions and not to let this haunt you for the rest of your life. He thanked me for being there with him and told me he wasn’t sure if he could have come to death row and sit with Fred all alone.

			After a while Fred called over one of the guards to see about getting the menus for the different restaurants so we could all figure out what we wanted to eat. The guard brought over one menu and said that this place, which was Italian, was the only place we had to choose from. This outraged Fred. His voice became noticeably higher and said that first they took away one of his choices for his last visit and now they want to take away his food choices. That’s when he demanded to see the warden. While waiting for the warden to arrive Fred’s father and I tried to keep Fred as calm as we could so not to draw any more guards over our way. It was at this time that Fred decided to take off his prison shirt. His entire back was covered with a tattoo of a Klansman in his robe with “KKK” and “White power” written underneath. I’m sure this was a show of power for when the warden, who happened to be black, arrived. 

			As the warden approached, Fred stood up. A meeting between a black warden and a racist skinhead, days away from being executed, who has repeatedly said he wanted to kill the warden, and who was extremely upset at the moment – I honestly thought that things were going to end badly. As the warden approached I told Fred to “go easy” and see what he had to say. The warden explained to Fred that the reason for the denial of Goff’s visitation with him was because the Department of Corrections policy would not allow another inmate to be a visitor. As for the menu selection, they had some bad experiences in the past with the other places so they decided to stick with this specific place, and they had the best food anyways. After some words were exchanged, Fred seemed to accept the warden’s explanation and let it go. 

			We sat down to look at the menu and then told the guards to call it in. The total amount of the food that we ordered came to nearly $100. The guards told us that they would escort us back to the receiving area so we could go to our lockers on the other side of the prison and get the money to pay for the food when it arrived. Here I was sitting on death row with $80 cash in my pocket that I had no idea I wasn’t allowed to have on me. Once again I realized how easy it would be to smuggle just about anything back to death row since they never really searched us when we came back after the first time. I didn’t want the guards to think that I did this on purpose so I just said, “Alright.” Then I went back with Fred’s father and pretended to get the money out of my locker

			When  the food arrived, the guards went through it to make sure nothing else was brought in with it; then we ate. The food took up two full tables since Fred ordered just about everything on the menu. We talked about the process for a while and he asked me questions about what to expect  and if I thought it was going to hurt. He explained to me that I was the only person who could really tell him and the others what it’s really like the day of an  execution since no one comes back. They are basically kept in the dark about the entire process. I explained it to him as best as I could and that seemed to calm him down some.

			Before I knew it our time was almost up. Those eight hours seem to have flown by for all three of us. I told Fred that I was going to leave first so he could say his last goodbyes to his father. His father was going to be driving back to Florida that night and was having Fred’s cremated ashes sent to him after everything was over.

			Fred thanked me for everything and gave me a hug. He asked if I would stay in touch with James Goff, because  James would see to it that I got  any information I needed to help out with my research. I told him that I would and he said, “Well, I guess I’ll see you in the death chamber.” That was the last time I would speak to Fred. The next time I would see him he would be strapped to the execution table waiting to die.

			As I was leaving I had to remind myself that as nice as Fred was to me he was still a cold blooded killer. This man had shot and killed a store clerk, led police officers on a high-speed chase trying to kill them as well, and had robbed and victimized countless people before coming to death row. He even went so far as to tie up women in places that he robbed, take light bulbs and shove them into their vaginas, and kick them before he left. This would cause the light bulbs to shatter inside of the women. Fred Treesh was not someone that you would bring home to dinner.

			Fred’s execution was the last one that I have witnessed to date. There are other inmates who have asked  me to attend their execution; a couple of them are on a stay of execution. One day when I was discussing capital punishment and my work with a good friend and colleague of mine by the name of Paul Sowers, he pointed out that he, like many others, find it fascinating to get a first-hand account of what really goes on during an execution of an inmate. He asked me a question that to this day I still keep asking myself, “So when does your research stop being research and start becoming an obsession?” 

			I wasn’t sure what he meant at first but when he repeated the question, it really hit me. I had been involved in every aspect of capital punishment now. I had witnessed a man being sentenced to death. I had been to death row countless times and interviewed some of the worst killers in our state’s history. I had eaten meals with them; and been there when a stay of execution was granted. I have been the last person a condemned man would ever speak to alone, and I have watched men die. From an educational standpoint there was nothing else that I could learn, yet I kept going back for more. I was doing something in my field of study that no one else has ever really been able to do before. I had devoted years to finding out all I could about death row in the state of Ohio, and realistically I have already accomplished that goal. So why continue? Is it morbid curiosity or an obsession? Deep down I believe I know the answer but only time will tell if I continue to interview death row inmates and witness their deaths.

			



		

CHAPTER 5
THE COUNTDOWN

			I will never forget the first execution I ever witnessed. In fact, I will never forget any of the executions I was involved with.  I don’t know how anyone could forget.
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			The confidential execution protocol for the state of Ohio details the process in approximately 640 pages (The Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and Corrections Death Penalty Protocol, 2007). This protocol is never released to the public, but I was fortunate enough to be given a copy by a Common Pleas Court Judge in Ohio. Most of the protocol is very mundane, scientific, and in my opinion, not very useful in describing what actually goes on during the taking of a human life. Regardless of what method is used during an execution, no two executions are ever alike. Just like there is no such thing as a routine surgery, there is also no such thing as a routine execution.

			The actual process begins about 30 days in advance when the condemned inmate is moved from his normal death row cell to a different section still located on death row. He is kept separate from those that were on his pod and placed on suicide watch. I have always found it fascinating how the State of Ohio will go to such great lengths to keep a death row inmate alive long enough to kill them. During this time, the inmate loses many of his privileges and is not free to move about like he was in common quarters.  The inmate however, may choose another inmate to be moved into the separate pod with him in order to have someone to talk to and spend recreation time together. 

			Also during the 30 day period prior to the execution, the inmates scheduled clemency hearing is held. Every inmate that I have dealt with dreads their clemency hearing. Most do not even want to have one and they certainly do not want to attend it. This is their last and final chance to beg for their life. By  this stage of the process, the inmates have typically come to hate humanity so much that the last thing they want to do is beg for mercy. They would rather go out looking tough. Inmates know the chances are almost zero of ever being granted clemency which would allow them to serve out their sentence in general population. The Clemency Board makes the final recommendation to the Governor to either grant clemency or deny clemency and carry out the sentence of death.

			Approximately one week before the scheduled execution the inmate is moved once again, this time to a much more secluded part of the prison, and he is completely isolated from the rest of the inmates. Here he will stay locked down and all alone with the exception of the guards who now keep an even closer eye on him to ensure that he doesn’t do anything to harm himself. Usually during this time, the inmate will write letters, make phone calls to loved ones, and draft his own version of a last will and testament which names those closest to him on death row who will get his personal belongings after the execution is carried out -- items such as his television, game systems, typewriter, nude pictures, and anything else acquired over the years on death row. I have found over the years that most, if not all, of the inmates put a great deal of thought into this process. It makes them feel more human. They are very selective about who gets what and for what reason. Of course no one really knows if the prison officials actually follow through with these requests, but then again, the inmate will never know either.

			It is also during this time that the family is notified and asked what their intentions are after the execution. The families may have the body released to them and their own funeral director to have whatever burial procedure they wish or they can have the state claim the body in which case the inmate will be buried on prison grounds in the prison cemetery. Most inmates elect to be cremated and their ashes sent home to either a family member or another loved one. Others have private funerals that are kept quiet. Of course not all go out so quietly. James Filliagi not only had a complete funeral but also a very large wake, complete with invitations sent out to people all over. I was told that over 200 people attended. I cannot confirm this myself since I declined to go. I did however place the invite in his file.

			Approximately 36 hours before the scheduled execution, at a time not disclosed to the public, the inmate will be transported from death row to the Southern Correctional Facility in Lucasville. Once there, the inmate is processed and placed inside the death cell. It is here where he will be given his last meal and say his final goodbyes to the people  on his list who are allowed to see him the night before his execution.

			Lucasville sits on the Ohio and Kentucky border and housed  death row from 1972 until 1995. When the riots broke out inside the prison in 1993, it  was  reclassified and death row was moved out of there 2 years later.(Columbus Dispatch, Alan Johnson, 10/03/11). It is a very menacing  prison that still houses some of the worst offenders in the State of Ohio. Ironically, sitting directly across the street from the only prison in the State of Ohio that executes people is a high school. Just a block or so down the same road sits the Valley Middle School. I would hate  sending my son or daughter  to a school where every time they looked out of a  window they see  rows upon rows of razor wire, fences, and walls. While I am sure that this prison  boosts this small town’s economy and employment, I  can’t help but wonder what it does to a child growing up and going to a school that sits across from the death chamber.

			Family and friends  are allowed one last visitation the night before. Typically they are allowed to remain with the prisoner until around 8:00 pm. If the inmate  desires, a spiritual advisor may stay with them longer. It is also during this last evening that the condemned inmate will be allowed to eat his last meal which he has ordered prior to being transported down to the death house. One  inmate that I have interviewed over the years by the name of Rick Bays has requested that I be there with him during his last meal. In fact, he told me that he doesn’t think he will be too hungry so he said I could order whatever I wanted to eat for his last meal. He would rather just talk to me while I ate. As of this time the  execution date has not been set, but I am not sure if the prison would even allow this.

			Some states, such as in Texas, will serve whatever is on the regular prison menu for the day for the inmate’s last meal. Ohio still allows the inmate to order whatever they desire, within reason. All of my inmate’s last meals were pretty much normal meals like steak or chicken, with the exception of Chris Newton’s. He wanted  two large T-bone steaks with all of the extras and  as close to raw as possible. He wanted to be able to see and taste the blood coming out of the meat as he ate. . Some just wanted desserts like ice cream or cake. Frank Spisak wanted spaghetti and when I spoke to him just before his execution he told me how he only requested a little spaghetti and a piece of chocolate cake, but  the guards  were so generous,  they gave him an entire cake and a pound of spaghetti with all of the extras. He was very grateful for how well he was  treated in the death cell. 

			In fact, every one of the inmates that I have interviewed just prior to their executions have always complimented  the warden and staff at Lucasville for how well they were treated during the last full day of their lives. Perhaps it is due to the professionalism of the staff or maybe it is due to the fact that the staff are people who know they are participating in taking a human being’s life and they feel  emotional. Most of the guards have said to me that it is just another day to them but I suspect that when everything is all said and done it is more than just another day to them. At least I hope so.  If it is really just another day to them,  what does that say about our society? Have we really gotten to the point where taking another person’s life, no matter what they have done has become so routine that it is just like any other day? God I hope not.

			



		

CHAPTER 6
“KILLER ART”

			The following pictures are of actual artwork that has been given to me by various inmates on Ohio’s Death Row. Some are oil paintings on canvas. Some are drawings done in  ink or pencil. One is painted using oil based paints  on a white handkerchief.  The wood clock was also made on death row. It does work and runs on batteries.  The shrunken head is made from dried fruit and material from sweatpants.  
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			All of these pieces of art were hand crafted and shipped to me from death row. All of the materials that were needed to complete these art projects are available to every inmate on Ohio’s Death Row. The inmates are allowed to purchase any and all art supplies they wish. Most inmates try to sell their art to willing buyers on the outside and people will often pay hundreds of dollars per painting.  People will also buy  signed letters, cards, and just about anything else that the inmates are willing to sell.  If an inmate is  not allowed to receive money, they will have other inmates broker their artwork for a small fee put in their account.  Others will enlist people on the outside to sell the art work for them and have those individuals deposit the money in their accounts or just purchase the goods they want for them.  I have been asked to sell artwork for some inmates for a 60/40 split with 60% to me and 40% to them. I have never sold any artwork for any inmate on death row.   

			



		

CHAPTER 7
DATE WITH DEATH

			Executions in the State of Ohio take place at 10 am.  Executions used to take place on a Thursday morning to allow those on the execution team to have a longer weekend off. For whatever reason, that changed and now they take place on Tuesday mornings. Since my home is about a four hour drive to the prison I usually get there the night before and stay at a local hotel. I am grateful for the lengthy drive because it allows me the solitude I need to process what is about to take place and then to clear my head after the execution is over. The day before I leave to go to an execution I usually keep my son home from school. I don’t  explain to him why and I certainly do not call the school and tell them the reason for his absence is a scheduled execution. I usually just let him sleep in and when he wakes up I tell him I got him out  of school and we just go out. Sometimes we  go shopping or out to eat. I don’t plan the day but it is  something I do to take my mind off of things. I am so thankful to be able to spend time with him like this knowing that so many others do not get this opportunity. It also helps to ease his worries about me because my family is always on edge every time I go to death row and especially to an execution.

			I arrive at the prison at 6:30 am. I am met by a guard who has most of the parking blocked off.  The Ohio State Highway Patrol  surrounds the front of the prison complex. They are in charge of everything that occurs outside of the prison walls. The parking lot is usually divided in half, one side for those protesting in favor of the death penalty and one side for those protesting against the death penalty. That end of the prison parking lot is where the gates open up to allow the hearse to drive in and out that will eventually contain the body of the executed inmate. The number of protesters that show up generally depends on the weather. If it is nice outside more people show up to demonstrate then when  the weather is lousy.

			I park in  the section reserved for the witnesses so we are shielded from the protesters and the media who generally have cameras set up. When I enter the prison I walk through a metal detector and sign in. I am given a badge that identifies me as a witness to the execution and I wait for an escort  to  the briefing room. The room has  a conference table and chairs, and looks, and feels, very prison-like. Attorneys for the defendant gather here as well as any clergy the defendant may have requested. The windows in this room look directly at the death house.

			Witnesses for the prosecution, the prosecutor of the original case and victims or victim’s family wait in a separate briefing room. Typically the witnesses for the state are victims or family. No more than three witnesses are allowed for the state and for the defendant. I cannot say what goes on in their briefing room since I have always been kept in the room holding the defense attorneys and clergy. The witnesses for the state never see me although when it is time to be escorted to the death chamber, they are led over first and I can through the window exactly who the three witnesses are.

			One might think that the atmosphere in the briefing room is solemn and tense, as witnesses wait for a last-minute stay of execution. However, inmates are considered a volunteer if they forgo any of their last appeals. Every experience I have had has been the same. Attorneys discuss where they stayed the night before and who had what for dinner. The clergy talk about their parishes, and somewhere in between, why capital punishment doesn’t work. I sit  back and take note of everything being said. I only speak when spoken to and even then I keep my responses to a bare minimum. 

			Usually no one asks me who I am for the first hour or so. I think they assume that I am prison staff since there are usually two staff members in the room to explain the protocol for the day. When someone does ask me what my role is, I explain that I am there to witness the death of the defendant and write about it later. Everyone gets quiet then. I can feel their nervousness. The look on their faces when they learn that I have been taking notes on their conversations is priceless. Now they reflect on what they have said out loud and wonder what I am going to say about them. I let them work things out and just sit and write. The second time I attended an execution, the defense attorney got a little heated when I refused to say what I was writing. At one point he looked at me and said, “You sure do write down a lot of stuff,” to which I politely replied, “You sure do talk a lot.” He didn’t speak to me after that.

			While in the briefing room the prison staff tells us when we will be taken over to the death house, and when, if everything goes accordingly, we will return to the briefing room. During this time the media ask the staff to ask whether any of us would be willing to talk to the press afterwards. I have refused all interviews following an execution.

			During this time the defendant is being held inside the death cell which is located inside the death house. The death house is a small brick building that sits completely free from the rest of the prison. It is close to the fences but still inside of the prison yard. The condemned inmate can have his spiritual advisor with him during this time if he desires or he can request to see his attorney or myself. Frank Spisak requested that I be the last person that he would speak to before being put to death. When it was time for me to see Frank it was 7:50 am. I was escorted to the death house by one prison staff member. It is not a far walk from the briefing room but the moment I step into the prison yard feels like an eternity to get there. The entire prison is on lock-down the day of an execution and the other inmates get restless. Cells surround the yard and all the inmates with windows facing it yell and scream at you when you step out into the yard. I can never make out what any of them are saying but it puts me in the mind of the Roman Coliseum and crowds yelling to those entering. It almost feels like I am on display and every single prisoner hates me for being there to watch one of their own die.

			With Spisak I was given from 7:50 am until 8:20 am. The death cell is an extremely small and completely open cell with a bed, toilet, and small writing desk. Three guards sit directly behind me and one guard sits off to my left typing every single thing that is said between us. Frank thanked me for everything and said he really hoped he helped me out during our time together on death row. He hoped it would keep others from ever coming to death row. Then he said something that I thought was very  strange for a man about to die. He told me I really looked more like a lawyer, dressed better and was more professional than any of his attorneys.  I thanked him and wished him well and wondered how a man who, in less than two hours, would be strapped to an execution table with lethal drugs running through his veins, could be so complementary towards me, and wish me all the best. It appeared as though the only care in the world he had was, not for his certain death or his victims, but to make sure I had a good drive back home. 

			When I was escorted back to the briefing room his attorneys asked me all kinds of questions. They also asked me to turn over the pictures Frank gave me along with the final judgment that was faxed to him while I was with him that denied his last appeal. His attorneys did not like it when I told them that since they were Frank’s property and that he personally gave them to me for my own use, they were not entitled to any of them. They disliked me even more when I told them they could file a motion with the court or have the documents subpoenaed, but by the time that was processed, their client would be long gone. Needless to say, I still have those documents in my possession.

			Sometimes I wonder if any state appointed death row attorney knows anything at all about the law or the protocol for capital punishment. I will never forget the one female attorney for Fred Treesh. It was 9:10 am the morning of his execution. Everyone had seen Fred for the very last time and in approximately 45 minutes the first of the witnesses were to be led over. This is when she looked at me and the other staff and asked, “Do they ever start these early or do they wait until 10:00 am on the dot?”

			I was floored. It seems as though a death row attorney should be fighting for her client’s life, yet instead she acted like she had more important places to be. Shouldn’t she know what takes place during an execution? More importantly, shouldn’t she be trying to push the time back instead of hoping  the state kills her client sooner?

			The protocol for the beginning of each execution seems to be consistent. At 9:55 am the witnesses for the state are led from the briefing room, across the yard, into the death house. At 10 am, it’s time for me, a spiritual advisor, and one attorney for the defendant to be led over. Inside the death chamber the room is divided by a half-wall with three small chairs on each side.  In front of us less than two feet away is a large plate glass window covered by a curtain. Standing behind us are various members of the media busy writing. They are never allowed to speak to any of us inside of the death chamber. From the moment that you sit down until the moment you leave the only sounds you hear are pencils moving on paper or your heart beating in your throat. The silence inside of the death chamber is almost deafening.

			This is where the consistency stops. No two executions are ever the same. The end result for them all is ultimately death; however, the process of achieving that end  has been different each time in front of me. 

			Once witnesses are seated, a live closed circuit video appears on a television screen mounted in the top left corner of the room. Here witnesses  watch the defendant lay on a table in the next room.  From an overhead view, one can see needles  inserted into their veins. I watched  nervous EMTs  try to find a vein on their first try, but it  never happened. Once the needles are  in place and secured, the television monitor goes off,  the curtain opens up  and the condemned inmate is forced to walk the 16 or so steps from that room to the actual execution chamber. After a step up, he lies down on the execution table and is strapped down by the execution team with straps around ankles, wrists, legs, and chest. Once the inmate is secured two of the guards on the execution team connect the IV lines that are fed through a small hole in the wall to the IV ports on the inmate’s arms Those lines transport the lethal drugs into the inmate in order to kill him. The executioner is always concealed behind the wall and is never to be seen by us or the public. The executioner who delivers the drugs to kill the inmate is not a trained professional, not a doctor or an anesthesiologist. They are simply a member of the prison staff execution team.

			According to the Ohio state training manual, the execution team meets weekly in the month prior to a scheduled execution, and rehearses what will happen during the real execution. There is nothing in the written training manual about qualifications for the staff on the execution team. In fact when an opening comes up, according to the state’s own protocol, the announcement is made at roll call to the guards on three consecutive days, and it is also posted by their time clock. Anyone interested in becoming a part of the execution team simply applies. At my first execution I was able to ask one of the team members why anyone would want to be on the team that kills another human being. His response shocked me. He stated that most do it because they get an extra day off with pay. The trading of a human life for eight hours of pay doesn’t really seem worth it to me.

			The drugs used in today’s lethal injections vary from state to state and also from death to death. There has been so much controversy about which drugs to use and how to obtain them that some states are considering going back to the  methods used before lethal injection became an option. In Ohio, the main method of execution used to be electrocution. In fact up until a few years ago, the inmate had to fill out a form called “Election of Manner of Execution” and choose either death by lethal injection or death by electrocution. If the inmate did not file this form one week ahead of their scheduled execution then they would automatically be executed in the electric chair.

			As of 2015, the state of Ohio still has a ban on executions until a new drug protocol can be adopted and accepted by the courts. It is not because states cannot figure out which drugs to use, but rather that the drug companies, once they find out that their drugs are being used for executions, stop production or stop supplying them to the Department of Corrections. 

			For the longest time, until January 2014 (Associated Press, Julie Carr Smyth, Oct. 2015), Ohio used a three drug cocktail protocol for lethal injection. A combination of Theopental Sodium, Pancuronium Bromide, and Potassium Chloride were delivered in succession to kill the inmate. 

			Once the inmate is led into the death chamber and strapped to the table, the warden asks him if he has any last statement to give before he is put to death. My very first execution was probably my worst. Not only did it take close to two hours from start to finish to execute the inmate, but I had no idea what to expect and when anything would happen. No one announced when the procedure is started. As you sit mere feet away from someone strapped down in front of you, watching them watch you, or the phone on the wall, wondering if it will ring to stop the execution, you never quite know when the drugs are being administered. I later found out, after my first execution, in the state’s protocol (Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and Correction Death Penalty Protocol, 2007) that the warden lets the executioner know to start the execution simply by buttoning his top button on his suit coat. This remains the same signal today. When the warden buttons his coat it is time to die.

			When the executioner gets the signal, the first drug is administered. Typically, when using the three-drug cocktail, two grams of Thiopentol Sodium with 25 mg/cc concentration for a total of 80cc are delivered from two syringes. As the drugs flow the inmate usually falls asleep rather quickly. After the first drug is administered a saline flush is pushed through the IV lines to clear the way for the second drug to be delivered. The saline flush takes approximately one minute. The second drug, 100 mg of Pancuronium Bromide with 2mg/ml concentration for a total of 50 cc is delivered from two syringes. This drug is intended to paralyze the inmate so that his natural defense mechanisms will not be noticeable to the witnesses. It appears that he is lying there peacefully when in fact he just cannot move. This is a fast acting drug; however, if a person is large, as in the case of Chris Newton, the drug does not last long. This is why I not only heard Newton gasping for air, I saw see his entire chest and abdominal area convulse. Another flush of saline is used to clear the lines before the final drug, 100 milliequivalents of Potassium Chloride with 2meg/cc concentration for a total of 50 cc, is pushed through the IV lines. This drug causes the heart to go into a cardiac arrest. The heart stops and the inmate has a fatal heart attack. If all goes as planned, the inmate is usually dead within 15 to 20 minutes from the administration of the first drug.

			I have no idea if the inmate is mentally aware of what’s going on during this process, so I can’t tell you for certain if it is a painless death were not. The United States Constitution protects us from cruel and unusual punishment. Nowhere does it say that an execution should not hurt.

			Once the warden checks the inmate for a pulse and shakes him a couple of times, the curtain closes. A medical doctor enters the death chamber to verify that there are no vital signs and to pronounce him dead. The doctor then leaves the chamber and the curtain is opened to mark the time of death in front of the witnesses. The defendants three witnesses are led out first followed by the states three witnesses. We are all escorted back to our assigned briefing rooms while the media is taken to their separate assigned room. All witnesses on both sides as well as anyone else that was permitted to be in the briefing rooms but not allowed to witness the execution are held there until the body is loaded into the hearse. The reason for this is to allow those family members who were not chosen to witness the execution to be able to see that the execution has in fact taken place and the inmate is no longer alive. The hearse is then driven out across the yard, through the gates, and past everyone who has gathered outside of the prison to demonstrate.

			The hearse that was waiting on Chris Newton’s body was so old it did not look like it would run. In fact, when I mentioned it to one of the prison staff members as we were heading over to the death house he told me that one time it didn’t start and had to be jumped. There was talk among the inmates housed at the prison that they were going to take up a collection in order to get a battery for that hearse. I’m not sure if that ever occurred but I do know that I never saw that hearse again.

			.
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CHAPTER 8
A SYSTEM BROKEN

			Day after day I am constantly asked, “Are you for or against the death penalty?” People get upset with me because I never give them a straight answer. The fact of the matter is that my belief on this issue is completely irrelevant. I never set out to try and convince people one way or the other; and it certainly never my goal to change people’s minds  about the death penalty. 

			My ultimate goal has been to bring forth the most accurate information that I can as a firsthand witness.  I want people to see the information I have obtained and use their own critical thinking skills to make an educated decision to support or not support capital punishment in the State of Ohio and around the country.

			To say that our system of capital punishment is broken or flawed is an understatement. I don’t disagree with people who say that the death penalty should be used. However, I can’t agree when those same people argue that the death penalty is a deterrent. Over the years I have come face to face with some of the lowest forms of the human species. Some are so evil and dangerous there really is no place for them to live in society. The more pertinent question is, how do we remove them from our society? I have come to realize that it is the most difficult question to answer. No one, from the United States Supreme Court to the average person on the street the top down, can ever seem to agree, which is most likely  the major breakdown in our system.  The capital punishment issue does not escape our also flawed political system. It is sad that in our civilized society today that we still have people running for  elected office that use capital punishment as one of their platforms to get elected. I believe that  the very thought of people trying to win the votes of others simply by pushing for the right to take the lives of others in the name of justice is almost criminal in and of itself.

			I am neither completely against the death penalty or completely opposed to it.  I’m only hoping to understand why, and educate others, about the failure of the system. There is  almost nothing organized or professional in the way we hand down a sentence of death to someone. I’m not speaking of the method by which they are actually executed, I am simply speaking of the judicial system itself.  

			One of the inmates whose execution I witnessed  was on our death row for 28 years. Another one  was only on death row for  five years. How can this be? 

			In the state of Ohio, if a defendant is being tried for a capital murder case and has no money for a lawyer, the court must appoint two attorneys to represent them. Those  attorneys must be death penalty certified. This means that those attorneys have gone through specific training after law school and have sat on previous death penalty cases. They are usually very knowledgeable about the law and have practiced for a number of years. 

			 However, there are no qualifications or experience requirements for a judge in a murder trial. The one person who can actually sentence an individual to death can be someone with no experience whatsoever in capital punishment. In fact, it’s possible that a newly elected judge could have a capital murder case as their very first trial.  Judges can be appointed to the bench through political party favors, or they can be voted in by popularity or by outspending their competition. Yet they are the ones  to hand down a sentence of death to another human being. How is this right? How is this justified?

			In the State of Ohio there are 88 counties. Each county has an elected County Prosecutor. He or she holds the ultimate power as to whether  a person should face the death penalty. Only they can decide to seek the death penalty or ask for a life sentence without parole. Of the 88 counties, 32 counties have sentenced people to die in recent history.  Twelve of these counties have only one person on death row compared to the likes of Hamilton County which houses 25 inmates on death row and Cuyahoga County which  has 23 inmates waiting to die. 

			I’m not sure how many of the elected prosecutors throughout the state have ever been to death row or  has witnessed an actual execution, but my guess is, not too many. Maybe if more prosecutors did visit our states death row and see firsthand how well they are treated there, then I would be willing to bet that when the family members of a slain victim asks about the death penalty, the county prosecutor’s response would be totally different. How in good conscience can any elected official sit down with family members who have just lost a loved one or even many loved ones, look them straight in the eye, and tell them that seeking the death penalty would be in their best interest? How does he or she explain to them that based on the laws in Ohio, criminals sentenced to death  will have to wait approximately 18 to 20 years to see the  sentence carried out. During that time,  the condemned killer will be allowed unlimited visits from their family and friends, have hand-held video games, a television, around-the-clock medical care including mental health treatment, art supplies, food boxes, and the freedom to move around to socialize with others. 

			In the meantime, the victim’s family will have to  follow the defendant’s appeal process in order to know what is going on. They will have to constantly relive  their experiences each time an appeal is filed. They will never reach the last  closure point until after the killer is eventually executed, if he ever is. The anticipation, waiting and stress these families endure  seems to me like cruel and unusual punishment  that is being inflicted on them by the state. 

			For one of my scheduled executions I  made arrangements for someone to cover my classes, kept my son home from school the day before like always, made my hotel reservations, and was ready to leave when I received notice that the Governor granted a 30 day stay of execution. I remember how unsettled I felt when I got the news. which I only received because I called the prison one last time to confirm everything and they told me that a stay had been ordered. I didn’t know whether to be  upset because of the wasted effort to prepare for the trip, or  happy because I didn’t have to see another human being die the next day. 

			 I learned that some of the victim’s family members came to witness the execution from  California. They had waited two decades and flown over 2,000 miles to Ohio at their own expense, only to be told that a stay was granted. To make matters worse, since the State of Ohio schedules  executions so far in advance, once a stay is granted, that person goes back to the bottom of the list, pushing back the execution as much as a couple of years. I cannot figure out how justice is being served when a condemned inmate and the State of Ohio has such control over the lives of the victims.

			It is my personal and professional opinion that this system is broken in so many ways that in order to fix it, the entire process from beginning to end needs to be completely overhauled. More emphasis needs to be placed on victims and their families and not on prosecutors.  Death row needs to be more transparent and executions need to be less secretive. The public deserves to know exactly what takes place before, during, and after an execution. Currently, the state is protecting the rights of  condemned inmates at the emotional and material expense of victims, their families, and the general public. 

			  The days of public executions are, thankfully, long gone. However, I have often speculated whether there would be an audience in today’s society for public executions. If people are willing to pay $50 to watch wrestling, cage fighting, or boxing on television, then how implausible is it that morbid curiosity would motivate people to watch an execution? While the profits from a pay-per-view execution could bring financial relief to victims and their families, I cannot advocate for this type of brutal and barbaric public display. 

			However,  the general public deserves to know the truth about the correctional system and the execution process. 

			It is going to take a lot more than a book like this to change the process of handing down the ultimate sentence of death. But if people  start asking elected officials  questions then perhaps the necessary changes could be made. Politicians are resistant to change unless change is forced upon them. The public needs to force that change by calling, emailing, or writing letters to their prosecutors, judges, state representatives, and  their governor.  Here are some suggestions of questions that interested voters might ask elected officials. 

			•	Are you  educated on the death penalty? How did you  become  knowledgeable about it? 

			•	Have you  ever visited death row or witnessed an execution personally?  

			•	Do you keep in contact with victim’s families in the same way you keep an eye on inmate appeals? 

			•	What is your personal belief about the death penalty? 

			•	Do you think a death sentence is worth all the years of grief and despair that the victims’ families will have to face? 

			•	Can you justify the special treatment given to inmates on death row compared to the grief and torment of the victim’s family?  

			The ultimate question is, is it really worth it? I cannot answer for victims or family members of victims because I have never had to face such tragedy. However, after devoting the last seven and a half years of my life to learning every possible detail that I could about death row, the inmates, and the execution process I can honestly say that the way the system works right now, no. It is not worth it.
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As PROMISED IN MY LAST LETTER: | WOULD SEND A FEW MORE PAINTINGS
TO YOU AT THE END OF NOVEMBER. | AM A COUPLE DF DAYS LATE, AUT NOT
THAT LATE.

1AM SENDING 3 PAINTINGS THIS TIME. | THOUGHT | wouLp PuT soMe
THOUGHT TN WHAT | WOULD PAINT. THE PANDA HAS A FUNNY STORY FROM
MY CHILDHOOD WHICH I THINK YOU WILL FIND FUNNY. 1 HAVE nOT Toup
THIS STORY TO TOO MANY PEOPLE AMD | HAVE NEVER PAINTING ANYTHING TO
REFLECT IT. THE PAINTING OF THE TWO FACES HAS_MORE T DO WITH WHAT
I WAVE MISSED SINCE 1 HAVE BEEN ON DEATH ROW. THE CROSS, | seen To
FIND MYSELF PAINTING SOMETHING TO DO WITH MY RELIGION. PLUS THIS
KIND OF PAINTINGS SEEM TO BE APPRECIATED BY MANY PEOPLE.

WELL, THE PAINTING OF THE CROSS | ALREADY EXPLATNED. THE REASOM 1
PAINTED THE PANDA IS BECAUSE | LAUGH EVERY TINE | SEE ONE ON TV OR
A MAGAZINE. WHEN | WAS A BOY MY MOTHER DECIDED THAT WE WERE MOVING
TO THIS COUNTRY TO BE WITH HER: SHE HIRED A “COYOTE'. A PERSON
THAT HELPS PEOPLE GET ACROSS THE BORDER. THE NIGHT THAT THE COYOTE
DECIDED IT WAS THE RIGHT TIME TO MOVE A FAMILY OF 6§ ACROSS THE
BORDER JUST HAPPENED TO RE A VERY CLEAR NIGHT. 1 CAN'T REMEMBER IF
THERE WAS A FULL HOON THAT NIGHT, AUT THE MOON WAS VERY 3RIGHT. AS
WE WERE TRAVELING TRYING NOT TO MAKE TOD MUCH NOTSE, AND OF COURSE
NERVOUS BECAUSE OF THE DANGER THAT EXISTS THERE. WE CAME TO A
POINT WHERE THERE WAS A LOT OF TALL GRASS. WE WERE ALL CROUCHING
AS WE MOVED BECAUSE THE COYOTE HAD SPOTTED A HELICOPTER, AS WE
KEPT MOVING ALONG) MY SISTER WHO WAS A YEAR YOUNGER THAN ME PAUSED
IN AMAZEMENT AT WHAT SHE SAW. SHE SAID LOUDLY, LOOK AT THE PANDA
BEAR. THE COYOTE TURNED AROUND AND SHARPLY SAID. “NO BODY MOVE.
THAT IS NOT A PANDA. IT'S A BIG SKUNK. WE ALL FROZE UNTIL THE
PANDA MOVED On, My FAMILY AND | STILL LAUGH AROUT THIS WHENEVER WE
RECALL THAT NIGHT. THIS IS wdY | DECIDED To PAINT THE PANDA. MoST
PEOPLE, WELL: THE FEW THAT | HAVE TOLD THIS STORY TO LAUGH ABOUT IT
BECAUSE OF WHAT COULD HAVE HAPPENED IF MY SISTER WOULD HAVE TRIED
TO TOUCH THE PANDA INSTEAD OF JUST ANNOUNCING ITS PRESENCE, |
THOUGHT THAT THE PANDA IN THE TALL GRASS WOULD DEPICT THIS LITTLE
PART OF MY LIFE.

THE PAINTING WITH THE TWO FACES.  THIS 1S MORE A DEPICTION OF ONE
OF THE JOYS A | HAD BEFORE I GOT LOCKED UP COMBINED WITH THE WORST
PAINS | HAVE FELT IN MY LIFE.

1 WAVE ALWAYS LIKE THE STARS. IT'S AMAZING TO ME HOW BRIGHT THEY.
ARE. THEY ARE THE REASON WY | ENJOY ASTRONOMY. REING LOCKED UP,
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B111, 11-11-13

I haven't heard back from you since my last letter. I finally finished
the painting that I was working on. I hope that you like my work. I have only been
painting seriously for three in a half years. I did lictle things like drawing and

ceramics when I was locked up in DYS. I got with a death row guy who is a good friend

of mine and is real good and he began showing me how to paint in acrylics.l gave
your name to him (Loza). Have you given any thought to sitting down and talking say
at a visit. Some times when I write my mind says one thing but when I reread it T
find that I've left words our and it doesn't make alot of sence.

I did this painting for two reasons. First because,l love the out doors
and land scape paintings. Secoundly because,T need to start adding life in to my
land scape paintings. [ grew up hunting and fishing around lake Erie. Alot of times
[ would take a cassra and photo ducks as they flew into the dacoys or photo a deer |
walking by my tree stand. Life growing up was troubled but T also got to learn alot
of things others didn't. Well Bill T think that is all for now And I hope to hear
back from you soon. Let me know a little about what your book is about or even why
writing a book on the DP or even about the guys on death row intrests you. I's kinda
looking for a friendship out of our meeting. Let me know if you are wanting to keep
it about your book or maybe becoming friends. I don't have many out side of these
walls. Two and they are both Beautiful ladys. One I vas friends with in the free
world 20 years ago. The other grev up in the same neighborhood and knew of me. The
only other people in my from the free world is my family. So I'm always looking for
a friend. So with that I'l1 close and let you do what you do.

RESPECTFULLY,
ARCH-
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1 O LONGER GET TO LOOK AT THE STARS. THE BRIGHT LIGHTS AROUND THE
PERIMETER OF THE PRISON BLOCK OUT THE STARS. EVEN ON THE CLEZREST
NIGHT, ALL | CAW SEE IS A COUPLE OF THE IF ] STRAIN MY Eves. TuIs
IS SOMETHING THAT [ TRULY WISS. ON THE RARE OCCASIONS WHEN THE
LIGHT G0 OUT AT NIGHT FOR JUST A FEW MINUTES IF NOT SECOWDS. 1 RUN
To MY WINDOW AND | LOOK UP HOPING THAT THE SKY WILL 3E CLEAR TO
ALLOW ME A GLANCE OF THEIR SPLEMDOR. THE PAINTING IS A COMRINATION
OF THE STARS, ASTRONOMY BECAISE 1 TRIED TO DEPICT SPAZEs AND MY
GREATEST PAIN.  HAVING WISSED MY DAUGHTER'S ENTIRE CHILDMOOD AND

NEVER HWAVING THE PLEASURE F HOLDING WER WHEN SHE WAS A LITTLE
BABY. | SPENT MANY YEARS WONDERING WHAT IT WOULD BE LIKE TO HOLD
MY LITTLE GIRL IN MY HANDS., SHE IS BY FAF BRIGHTER THAN ANY OF THE
STARS 1N THE SKY AND | THOUGHT THIS PAINTING WOULD SHOW THAT.

WHAT DO YOU THINK? ~ ARE THESE PAINTINGS SOMETHING THAT YOU CAN
INCLUDE Tn Youe A00K? | THOUGHT AROUT PAINTING THE 0CERu &S | miss
THAT T00. | LOVE THE OCEAN. BUT | THOUGHT THESE 3 PAINTINGS &Y A
10T MORE ABOUT ME.

IF YOU CAN, COULD YOU PLEASE GET ME A P4 MinI TamLET From
JPAY.COM. | WOULD LIKE ONE TO HELP ME WITH THE EMAILS | SEWD AND
ALSO TO MAKE IT EASY FOR MY PEOPLE TO SEND ME PICTURE, AND IN THE
FUTURE ADD MUSIC To 1T as I can.

THE COAST OF IT IS WO MORE THAN THE GAME YOU RDNGHT FoR we. $4.00
PLUS TAX WHICH ENDS UP AT $53.00. | REALIZE THAT IT'S CHRISTMaS

TIME AND YOU YIGHT HAVE YOUR OWN EXPENSES THAT ARE A PRIORITY. IF
YOU CAN NOT GET THIS WOW, | CAN WAIT UNTIL YOU ARE ASLE To. CouLp
YOU LET ME KNOW WHEN YOU CAW ORDER THIS MINI TABLET IN ORDER FOR NE
TO KNOW WHEN TO EXPECT 1T, THANK YOU.  OHi | HAVE ONE WORE
REQUEST.  THIS 1S A FAIRLY SIMPLE ONE. IF YOU CAN, COULD YOU TAKE
PICTURES OF THE PAINTINGS AND SEND THEM TO ME? | WOULD LIKE TO ADD
THEN TO MY COLLECTION OF THE OTHER PAINTINGS | WAVE powe. 1 am
ALLOWED TO RECEIVE 3 PICTURES PER  ENVELOPE. IF THIS_1s an
INCONVENTENCE, 1 UNDERSTAND. | JUST THOUGKT | WOULD ASK.  Twamks,
Ok, THAT'S IT. 1 HOPE YOU LIKE THE PAINTINGS. IF THERE 1S

ANYTHING ELSE YOU WOILD LIKE TO ASK ME, PLEASE DO. AND IF YOU WOULD
LIKE ANYMORE OF MY PAINTINGS: PLEASE LET ME KNOW AND | WILL GET
SOMETHING DONE FOR YOU.

1 HOPE YOU HAD A G0OD THANKSGIVING, AND 1 HOPE YOU WAVE A GREAT
CHRISTHAS. TAKE CARC AND THANKS AGATN.
SIfCERELY,

0SE
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Anthony Sowell, #604-609
CCl DR#2)
15802 State Rt 104 North
Chilicothe, OH 45601

Heilo B/ 1
A Waell You warded know what death
kow 75 gkl Feist of all, death ess 1's not what
T envisioned it would be. T had envisioned
a blace weee all of +hese toughguys and
Killees were howsed waiting Fo be oxecuted.
But So Fau dleathbor has been aToke The
Aawiag dhe most Pact /s pade wp of nething
bt oF ‘\cmo.s<)(wxis, cowards, and Swthes
Fhat will do anything Fo Save thele ass The
You hove the big bedly trpe, they like to
tey and intimidate and prey oh +he weak
pesple but they kwnow who Ho mess withar
whe ot beoL Well the day T arived at oS0
was September (4, Now keep in mind Fhat I
am o high peofile inmate, S0 cvenyone at
©.5.7 had known ol Hhats beern said abo
me and what T had been comuicted of. 5o
when T gof to 0.5.P they put me (na ce
M the Receplin conten 5o T could change.
while T was changing +he wardon
and ssre othen Fop quys ot Fhe ')
hao #o stop bay an See frilony g
Sowells Then Twas Faken 1o

: : ot

a cetl i orjentats
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Anthony Sowell, #604-609 )
Otrto-sStatu-Fenitentimmy
Poew tav i to-tubtaraiond.
Yormpeso sl ees

\I was Ready to take his head off buthe

_egp his hords and sadl #hat he dd
nat teant te fight me,thon aboul a_teck
( I&‘L‘UL Ke came e hehind me and attacked . T
<kl came cut on top,The guards ended ap
Sneaying me_tn ruy face moml head and ol datsn
liny kack o lle dold the guards e veryiling that had
happersd bhen dly Came and asked me whal hnd
happened T rooeld not tell them m\y\umﬂ,‘,unﬁ
| though T had done mothing T stii didn't sniict,
_ |Thats Susta nomop You Lon't +ell - They gust
lookee at +he Fope fcori the came o clesth
Row thene are cor seuneky ae¥ , S not
_the wond svent owt dhat T coedd Fight ond
would Frght and thats mest of the battle Haht
Fhernca Natu stau pat tat o A AAl (/</ aleady
_ kmew frem nry case and Hhey ko Ahact Thay
am net te Eye 4»«’&&( eith =T hop< rndhat my
language do net ci_you T wust tnying
\Fo give you meibleil T going fo Slaze now
bot I hope +o heor From
T hope that T not being 4
= Indepth, you have folet me
(Y%
Usidil Hhe next dims

Frthry f,x,,,,{/
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CCL DR#2
15802 State Rt 104 North
Chilicothe, OH 45601
DS, +his wnit has 16 coils Fup®

A down, there wene only o ccils

being used down they held +he only 4o
Inmate on death Row in peofective eustody, Hhey
had o hole wonif 45 them selfs T was put i
a—cell upshaies, The wpshues part of $hic conit
was usel Fo house an Tnmate who Hime was
up and wene ahout less them two reeks awm
Fror helng axechd. T was o spend 30 days
1 oriendation but only slayed for 3 doys
because TJocy wac heing put wpstads his
Fime was eomeing apsse Towas put out”
mite population. T was suepeised by +he way
others came #o support pic. Guys ke maToes
rte Lot and rin Heactmar, They Faied 4o giie
re Fhings, at Frst T would siot fake 4hem.
Sothen they sanded Just leaving statf ot
coffee and
even & hal pot witeh we dse to cockuith
7t cost 15 dollars. This was don< wndil T had
gotten o py Feels Bud Hhem HAWU;

are afeaid of me. Tiue had one ' f
Confrondation with sn inmate g

my door Feod ) coting wtens

80 fan, He was being disespcthil )

fo me and ofhers one day 8
Qo T got (N Als faec obout it
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